



Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

British Virgin Islands Tourists' Motives to Travel, Destination Image, and Satisfaction

Sherrine Natahsa Augustine *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Advertising and Promotion Management Commons</u>, and the <u>Marketing Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Sherrine Augustine

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Natalie Casale, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Craig Martin, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Neil Mathur, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2017

Abstract

British Virgin Islands Tourists' Motives to Travel, Destination Image, and Satisfaction

by

Sherrine N Augustine

MPM, Keller School of Management, 2009 MIS, Keller School of Management, 2006 BS, DeVry University, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2017

Abstract

The turbulent events of the world have resulted in a decline in the number of travelers since 2011. Nevertheless, approximately one billion international tourists still travel annually. Tourist activity plays an important role in the global economic activity. The purpose of this correlational study was to examine if a relationship exists between destination images, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction. The target population consisted of noncitizen and nonresident tourists of the British Virgin Islands (BVI) between March 2017 and April 2017. Oliver's expectancydisconfirmation theory that the individual will act in a particular way because the expectation that a certain outcome follows the act formed the theoretical framework for this study. Data were collected through a self-developed paper survey using existing Likert-scale questions based on prior research to measure the study variables. A convenience sample of 257 noncitizen and nonresident tourists of the BVI resulted in 247 participants with useable responses. Standard multiple regression analysis determined whether there was a relationship between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and BVI tourists' satisfaction. The results indicated the 2 predictors, destination image and push and pull motives to travel, accounted for approximately 17% of the variation in tourist satisfaction (R^2 = .166, F(2,244)= 24.233, p<.001). Either destination image and push and pull motives to travelor both predictors had a significant relationship with tourist satisfaction. The implications for positive social change include employment opportunities through various tourism sectors and for the future development of tourism profitability and sustainability benefiting the local community.

British Virgin Island's Tourists' Motives to Travel, Destination Image, and Satisfaction

by

Sherrine N Augustine

MPM, Keller School of Management, 2009

MIS, Keller School of Management, 2006

BS, DeVry University, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2017

Dedication

To my mother, Lucina, you motivate me on a daily basis to be a better daughter and person. Obtaining this degree would not have been possible without all of the shared sacrifices we made. Thank you for your continued encouragement, I dedicate this to you, with all my love.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Natalie Casale and Dr. Leslie Miller, my doctoral study present and past chairs, for their continual support and guidance throughout this process. Your encouragement helped to keep me going when I wanted to stop. I would also like to thank the other members of my committee, Dr. Craig Martin, Dr. Reginald Taylor, and Dr. Neil Mathur, as well as my various course peers at Walden, for their feedback and tireless pursuit of excellence. All of you encouraged me to continually demonstrate high scholarly standards and also taught me to have a lot of patience.

I would like to thank my family and friends for their unwavering support and encouragement. Thanks for being there with me through the highs and lows of this process. I need to specifically recognize my mother, Lucina; father-figure, Lloyd Smith; brother, Steve; nephew, Jaden; niece, Taryn; friends, Ms. Tireka Thomas, Mrs. Robin Andrews, CSY Dock Crew, Fidel Captain, Dr. Cassander Titttley-O'Neal, Ms. Averil Henry; and Sawdust. You have all provided me with varying levels of support along the way. I could not have accomplished this without all of your help. I love you all so very much!

Finally, I would also like to thank all of the visitors that participated in my study. I have been genuinely humbled by the outpouring of support and participant feedback that helped to improve my study and was part of some data-driven recommendations that can identify ways to improve tourist satisfaction in the BVI.

Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem1
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study
Research Question and Hypothesis
Theoretical Framework4
Operational Definitions5
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations6
Assumptions
Limitations7
Delimitations7
Significance of the Study8
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature9
Application to the Applied Business Problem 11
Theoretical Framework
The BVI 15
Tourism Motivation
Destination Image
Tourist Satisfaction
Summary

Table of Contents

Transition	41
Section 2: The Project	42
Purpose Statement	42
Participants	44
Research Method	45
Research Design	47
Population and Sampling	47
Ethical Research	50
Data Collection Instruments	51
Demographic Survey Items	53
Destination Image	53
Push and Pull Motives to Travel	54
Tourist Satisfaction	55
Instrument Reliability and Validity	55
Data Collection Technique	56
Data Analysis	60
Statistical Analyses	60
Assumptions	
Interpreting Results	67
Software and Data	68
Study Validity	68
Transition and Summary	71

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	72
Introduction	72
Presentation of the Findings	72
Descriptive Statistics	73
Assumptions Tests	77
Inferential Statistics	82
Push Motives of Motivation to Travel	83
Pull Motives of Motivation to Travel	84
Applications to Professional Practice	86
Implications for Social Change	88
Recommendations for Action	89
Recommendations for Further Research	91
Reflections	92
Summary and Study Conclusions	92
References	94
Appendix A: Letter of Cooperation	140
Appendix B: National Institutes of Health Training Certificate	142
Appendix C: Survey Questions	143
Appendix D: Survey Questions Analysis Key	148

Listof Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Source Content	11
Table 2. Variable and Related Questions	29
Table 3. Frequencies for Quantitative Study Variable	74
Table 4. Descriptive Statistics Push Motives to Travel	76
Table 5. Descriptive Statistics for Pull Motive to Travel	77
Table 6. Tests of Normality	78
Table 7. Bootstrap for Model Summary	80
Table 9. Collinearity Diagnostics	81
Table 10. Model Summary	81
Table 11. Bootstrap for Model Summary for Push and Pull Motives	81
Table 12. Bootstrap for Coefficients	82
Table 13. Push Motives to Travel Variance to Tourist Satisfaction	83
Table 14. Pull Motives Predicted Tourist Satisfaction (Coefficients ^{a)}	84
Table 15. Pull Motive to Travel Variance to Tourist Satisfaction	85
Table 16. Pull Motives Predicted Tourist Satisfaction (Coefficients ^a)	85

List of Figures

Figure 1. Power as a function of sample size	48
Figure 2. Histogram of the criterion variable: Tourist satisfaction	81
Figure 3. Normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residual	81
Figure 4. Scatterplot of the standardized residual	82

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Business managers in developing countries continue to emphasize development and promotion of tourism (Bazneshin, Hosseini, & Azeri, 2015). Altunel and Erkut (2015) argued that providing a superior visitor experience associates with high levels of tourist satisfaction. Additionally, more tourism managers acknowledge how important tourist satisfaction is in today's competitive world to reap economic benefits (Bazneshin et al., 2015). The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine if a relationship exists between destination images, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction.

Background of the Problem

Tourism marketers face increasing competition, innovation, and branding in a dynamic worldwide market, leading destination marketers to adopt innovative strategies to emphasize the destination's uniqueness and tourists' satisfaction (Hultman, et al. 2015; Rajaratnam et al., 2014). Rajaratnam et al. (2014) proclaimed the importance for destination managers to assess tourist satisfaction to ensure a better understanding of how tourist satisfaction relates to the destination of choice. Researchers noted some destination managers are not addressing tourist satisfaction, nor attempting to address consumer dissatisfaction (Batista et al. 2014; Fernandes & Correia, 2013). Pratminingsih, Rudatin, and Rimenta (2014) concluded travel motivation and destination image are fundamental travel behaviors of a visitor in assessing tourist satisfaction.

Problem Statement

Since 2011, the tourism industry has experienced some turbulent events resulting in a decrease in the number of travelers (Estrada & Koutronas, 2016; Hajibaba et al., 2015; Rahimi, 2016). Despite the turbulent events, more than 1 billion tourists travel internationally, which contributes to tourism making up 9% of the global gross domestic product worldwide (Hsieh & Kung, 2013). The general business problem was that some tourists remain unsatisfied if the destination does not meet their needs, resulting in a competitive disadvantage (Grigaliūnaitė & Pilelienė, 2014). The specific business problem was that some tourism officials and managers do not know whether a relationship exists between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of the quantitative correlational study was to examine if a relationship exists between destination images, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction. The first predictor variable was destination image. Push and pull motives, another predictor variable, consisted of 13 predictor variables: (a) push knowledge, (b) push sightseeing variety, (c) push adventure, (d) push relax, (e) push lifestyles, (f) push family, (g) pull event and activities, (h) pull sightseeing variety, (i) pull easy access and affordability, (j) pull history and culture, (k) pull variety seeking, (l) pull adventure, and (m) pull natural resources. The criterion variable was tourist satisfaction. The population was comprised of departing tourists in the British Virgin Islands (BVI) from the period of March 2017 to April 2017. The implications for this

study of positive social change include contributing to the economic enhancement of the BVI, which may help to generate employment and entrepreneurship opportunities for residents and sustainability benefiting the local community.

Nature of the Study

I selected the quantitative method for this study. The quantitative method was most appropriate for this study because researchers use the quantitative method to examine any existing relationships among variables (Westerman, 2012). Researchers also use a quantitative method to examine how one or more variables affect or influence other variables (Barry, Chaney, Piazza-Gardner, & Chavarria, 2013). This study involved my examination of the potential influence of motivation to travel and destination image on BVI tourist satisfaction. Furthermore, within quantitative research, researchers statistically analyze numerical data (Turner, Balmer, & Coverdale, 2013; Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala 2013). In this study, I collected and analyzed numerical data. A qualitative method did not meet the needs of this study when examining the potential influence of variables on one or more other variables, and do not address relationships among variables (Goodbody & Burns, 2011). A mixed method did not meet the needs for this study because researchers use mixed method studies to answer both qualitative and quantitative research questions within one study (Bromwich & Scapens, 2016) and in this study, I only sought to answer a quantitative research question.

The design of this study was correlational. The correlational design is an appropriate design when the researcher seeks to examine a noncausal relationship between or among variables (Luft & Shields, 2014). This study involved me determining

if a relationship exists between destination images, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction. In this study, the manipulation of destination image and push and pull motive to travel (the two predictor variables) did not occur without the random assignment of people to each variable nor a causal relationship (see Luft & Shields, 2014). The comparative design, a common quantitative design, was not appropriate for the purpose of this study as I did not look to compare variables (see Atchley, Wingenbach, & Akers, 2013; Venkatesh et al., 2013). An experimental design was not appropriate as experimental designs require researchers to manipulate the independent variables (Benredouane, 2016; Chirico et al., 2013; Howard, Best, & Nickels, 2014), which was not possible given the nature of the study variables.

Research Question and Hypothesis

I developed one research question to guide this study: What is the relationship, if any, between destination images, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction?

 H_0 : There is no statistically significant relationship between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction.

 $H_{\rm a}$: There is a statistically significant relationship between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for this study is an expectancy-disconfirmation theory. Oliver (1980) developed the expectancy-disconfirmation theory—a cognitive theory of customer satisfaction—focused on customers making postpurchase evaluative judgments concerning a specific buying decision. According to Oliver, people are either satisfied or dissatisfied because of a positive or negative difference between their expectations and perceptions before and after receiving a service.

My intent with this quantitative correlational study was to examine if motivation to travel and destination image significantly influenced tourist satisfaction. According to the expectancy-disconfirmation theory, pretravel perceived expectations should affect a tourist's satisfaction with a destination (see Oliver, 1980). Furthermore, tourists will make judgments about their tourist destination experience based on their original perceived expectations. If tourist judgments about the destination are positive, they are likely to be more satisfied (Mohamed et al., 2014). When tourists are satisfied, they will communicate positive experiences to motivate others to make a purchase or repeat purchase (Mohamed et al., 2014).

Operational Definitions

Providing operational definitions of terms that a reader may not understand and which readers will not find in a basic academic dictionary is critical to successful research (Dimoska & Trimcev, 2012; Hallmann et al., 2012). The following are operational definitions for technical terms, jargon, and special words that I refer to in the study.

Destination competitiveness: A country's ability to create value and integrate relationships within an economic and social model that takes into account a destination's natural capital and its preservation for future generations (Dimoska & Trimcev, 2012; Hallmann et al., 2012). *Destination image:* A combination of a tourist's impression as well as various tourism products, attractions, and attributes of the destination (Whang, Yong, & Ko, 2015).

Tourism sustainability: Accountability for the current and future social, economic, and environmental impact of the destination while addressing the needs of the visitor(Crnogaj et al., 2014; Yüzbaşıoğlu, Topsakal, & Çelik, 2014).

Tourist satisfaction: A psychological state that develops when the travel experience satisfies the traveler's desires, expectations, and needs (Leung, Woo, & Ly, 2013).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Reflecting on and identifying potential shortcomings and boundaries of a study are critical (Hesse-Biber, 2016). By making the shortcomings and boundaries clear to readers, researchers can be transparent to indicate how to address such shortcomings in the study, and to avoid having others point out the shortcomings (Hesse-Biber, 2016). Researchers often make known shortcomings and boundaries by discussing study assumptions, limitations, and delimitations (Foss & Hallerg, 2013; Hesse-Biber, 2016). **Assumptions**

An assumption is an indicator in the study regarding what is true or certain without proof (Foss & Hallerg, 2013; Hesse-Biber, 2016). I held four main assumptions in this study. The first assumption was that participants who completed the survey were international visitors to the BVI. The second assumption was that participants would easily understand the questions on the data collection instrument. Another assumption was that all participants would answer the survey questions honestly and accurately. My final assumption was that all visitors would wait until the completion of their stay in the BVI before completing the survey.

Limitations

Limitations refer to potential weaknesses of the study that are out of a researcher's control (Hesse-Biber, 2016). I identified two limitations of this study. The first limitation was that with a quantitative co relational study, researchers cannot determine cause and effect. If motivation to travel and destination image influence tourist satisfaction, a third variable may account for any observed relationship. The second limitation was that the sample of tourists included in the study may not be a true representation of the population. The sample characteristics may not be the same as the characteristics of most BVI tourists, limiting the generalizability of the findings to all tourists.

Delimitations

Delimitations refer to the boundaries a researcher sets for a study, which the researcher can control (Hesse-Biber, 2016). This study had six delimitations. First, my focus was on gathering the perceptions of tourists who travel only to the islands within the BVI, not those of tourists who travel to other countries. The second delimitation was that while many other variables exist that influence tourist satisfaction, in this study I focused only on motivation to travel and destination image. Another delimitation was that the study population was noncitizens or nonresidents entering the BVI for leisure and not for business. My exclusion of all tourists who visited the BVI outside of the data

collection period of the study was another delimitation of the study. The fifth delimitation related to the study population that I limited to only international visitors departing the BVI. My focus in this study was exclusively on the BVI tourism industry. Finally, the survey was in English, and therefore, only those visitors who could read English were able to complete the survey.

Significance of the Study

The results of this study have potential value to business practice in that destinations must remain competitive to maintain and increase the income of residents of the community (see Webster & Ivanov, 2014). An association exists between destination competitiveness and the long-term economic prosperity of residents (Zehrer & Hallmann, 2015). According to Rajaratnam et al. (2014), tourist satisfaction and the destination attributes influence tourism to the destination. If a tourist's experience is satisfying, the tourist leaves permanent footprints on the physical, social, cultural, and economic environments of destinations resulting in repeat visitors (Kim, Uysal, & Sirgy, 2013). Therefore, tourism managers and stakeholders have the responsibility to ensure sustainable tourism in the BVI, while ensuring a tourist's experience is satisfying. However, to gain wider acceptance of the BVI community, tourism managers need to implement their strategies for developing tourism to the local community, which enhances the territory's economic growth (see Kim et al., 2013).

This study's implications for positive social change include the potential to increase the territory's economic growth (see Ridderstaat, Croes, & Nijkamp, 2014). Sustainable tourism allows for the future development of tourism to promote businesses' profitability and sustainability benefiting the local community (Begum, Er, Alam, & Sahazali, 2014). Growth in the number of tourists usually requires the expansion of infrastructure (roads, water supply, hospitals, sewage treatment, and waste disposal) and tourism facilities (accommodations, restaurants, and transportation systems), which are critical factors in the development of tourism in the BVI (Ridderstaat et al., 2014). Tourism development leads to employment opportunities through various tourism sectors such as hotels, boating, and restaurants, which attract migration to the BVI. For this reason, the BVI's environment should maintain a level of industry high enough to sustain tourism longevity. Van Vuuren and Slabbert (2012) stated that a destination's *environment* is a key factor in motivating tourists to visit a destination. However, for tourism managers and stakeholders to implement corrective measures to make the BVI a more marketable tourism product, they need to ensure the social and economic growth of the residents of the territory (Ridderstaat et al., 2014). Understanding what factors may influence tourist satisfaction could increase the BVI's competitiveness with other potential destination islands. Most importantly, an increase in the number of tourists equates to an increase in revenue; increased revenue directly contributes to the economic and social enhancement of the residents of the BVI (Begum et al., 2014).

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The literature review section will include a comprehensive review of literature related to the study topic. The review section will begin with a discussion of the strategy for searching the literature. Then I will provide a critical analysis and synthesis of literature related to the theoretical framework of this study and the independent variables (motivation to travel and destination image) and dependent variable (tourist satisfaction) of the study will follow a restatement of the study purpose and hypotheses. Also included in this section will be a discussion of the measurement of the study variables.

Literature Search Strategy

My use of a structured approach for searching the literature allowed for a comprehensive review of all sources. First, I selected the key terms for searching the literature from the study topic, which included the theoretical framework and study variables. The initial keyword search terms were *tourist satisfaction, destination image, motivation to travel, tourism, and customer satisfaction, and loyalty, expectancy-disconfirmation theory, perceived expectations, tourism destination, and destination competitiveness.* Opting to use the key terms and variations to search databases I found in the Walden University Library proved to be most useful in developing this review. The key sources in my search included Science Direct, Taylor and Francis Online, Sage Journal, Emerald Management, and Hospitality & Tourism Complete. Valuable information also came from Google Scholar and the EBSCOhost database. A search of all referenced databases resulted in identifying valuable literature sourced from peer-reviewed journal articles, books, and relevant government offices (see Table 1).

Table 1

Literature review content	Total #	# less than 5	% total peer-reviewed
		years at date of	Less than 5 years at
		graduation	graduation date
Peer-reviewed journals	106	95	0.89%
Books	3	2	0.67%
Nonpeer reviewed	9	5	0.27%
Older articles	2	0	0.00%
Other	2	2	0.01%
Total	122	104	0.85%

Literature Review Source Content

Application to the Applied Business Problem

The purpose of the quantitative correlational study was to examine if a relationship exists between destination images, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction. The first predictor variable was destination image. Push and pull motives, another predictor variable, consisted of 13 predictor variables: (a) push knowledge, (b) push sightseeing variety, (c) push adventure, (d) push relax, (e) push lifestyles, (f) push family, (g) pull event and activities, (h) pull sightseeing variety, (i) pull easy access and affordability, (j) pull history and culture, (k) pull variety seeking, (l) pull adventure, and (m) pull natural resources. The criterion variable was tourist satisfaction. The population was comprised of departing tourists in the British Virgin Islands (BVI) from the period of March 2017 to April 2017. The implications for this study of positive social change include contributing to the economic enhancement of the BVI, which may help to generate employment and entrepreneurship opportunities for residents and sustainability benefiting the local community.

Theoretical Framework

Oliver's (1980) expectancy-disconfirmation theory provided the theoretical framework for this study. According to this theory, an individual will act in a particular way because the expectation that a certain outcome follows the act (Oliver, 1980). Disconfirmation is a visitor's expectation of the performance of a facet normally attributed to the enhancement of a visitor's travel experience such as the aesthetics of a country (Oliver, 1980). For example, the aesthetics of the BVI includes beaches, courteous locals, accommodations, and location, to name but a few. According to Moital, Diaz, and Machado's (2013) findings, which support Oliver's theory, because of the experience of enjoying these attributes as opposed to relying on perceived expectations, visitors can unreservedly declare whether their perceived expectations matched or exceeded their experience. This example demonstrates the core of the expectancy-disconfirmation theory, which gauges and disconfirms visitors' perceptions of their intended stay (Moital et al., 2013).

Oliver (1980), developed expectancy-disconfirmation theory—a cognitive theory of customer satisfaction—based on customers making postpurchase evaluative judgments concerning a specific buying decision. This concept defines the importance of visitor's satisfaction in a destination as an emotional response to his or her experience (Oliver, 1980). In other words, if the visitor's experience of the destination complies with previously formed perceptions of the destination, the visitor will make a positive evaluation of the purchase thus signifying that he or she are a satisfied tourist. By this same measure, if a visitor's experience does not comply with expectations the tourist may be dissatisfied (Sukiman et al., 2013).

Oliver's (1980) theory relied on the notion that people are either satisfied or dissatisfied because of a positive or negative difference between expectation and perception. The positive or negative difference is comparative to their expectations before a visit or receiving a service, and the experience after a visit or receiving a given service (Oliver, 1980). Establishing this comparative difference indicates the customer's level of satisfaction (Oliver, 1980). In this way, the theory can be imperative to understanding the key role that tourist satisfaction plays in a destination's ability to remain sustainable and profitable (Ridderstaat et al., 2014). Furthermore, the degree of customer satisfaction relates to sustainability regarding a destination's competitive advantages and differentiation from alternative destinations (Sukiman et al., 2013). According to Wong and Dioko (2013), Oliver's expectancy-disconfirmation theory can be used as an indicator of a destination's performance.

In their study, Wong and Dioko (2013) explored the outcomes of customer satisfaction among tourists and found that the measurement of performance solely depends on expectation and/or disconfirmation. Wong and Dioko concluded that to outperform the destination competitors, a service provider must deliver a higher level of service that outweighs the value of customer cost. Similarly, Sukiman et al. (2013) conducted a study measuring tourist satisfaction of international and domestic visitors on holiday in Pahang, Malaysia. The aims of their study included three primary objectives: measuring the gap between tourist expectations and experiences, determining levels of tourist satisfaction using the holiday satisfaction (HOLSAT) model, and recommending improvement strategies (Sukiman et al., 2013).

Although the expectancy-disconfirmation theory is the most commonly used theory, the notion of tourists having previous expectations before receiving the service followed by a comparison of their perceived outcome of the service in order to determine if the tourist was satisfied or dissatisfied can be looked at through different theoretical lens (Deng, Yeh, & Sung, 2013). Oliver and Swain (1989) presented a different perspective and used the equity theory to analyze tourist satisfaction based on the relationship between the sacrifices, rewards, expected value, time, and costs the visitors sustained. No variable within their study relied on whether the customer received more value than spent regarding price, time, and efforts (Oliver & Swain, 1989). Furthermore, normative theory establishes the tourist's need for meeting a norm (Correia, Kozak, & Ferradeira, 2013). The normative theory allows tourists to compare their present experience of a destination with an alternative or different experience (Correia et al., 2013; Sukiman et al., 2013). In their study, Cheng, Fang, and Chen (2015) used perceived performance, which measures the overall satisfaction based on the actual performance, regardless of the visitor's prior expectation. My objective with this study was to understand whether visitors are either satisfied or dissatisfied because of a positive or negative difference between expectation and perception *before* and *after* their travel experience to the BVI.

Although Oliver's (1980) expectancy-disconfirmation theory, which measures customer satisfaction based on tourists' experience, differs from Correiaet et al.'s (2013) normative theory, which focuses on tourists' perceptions, these theories are similar in that tourists tend to make judgments regarding their destination experiences based on their original perceived expectations (Correia et al., 2013; Das & Ryan, 2016). If tourists' judgments about the destination are positive, they are likely to be more satisfied (Das & Ryan, 2016). Thus, Das and Ryan (2016) recommended that when studying tourist satisfaction, a need exists for increased understanding of the antecedent behind the evaluation versus the acceptance of the simple assessment. Otherwise, the true knowledge of the clients' emotional experience might be limited (Das & Ryan, 2016). Hence, my goal of comprehending the antecedent destination image along with push and pull motives to travel behind tourist satisfaction made Oliver's expectancy-disconfirmation theory appropriate for this study.

The BVI

The BVI tourism sector is a key component in the territory's socio-economic development and prosperity (Cohen, 1995; BVI Tourism Board, 2016). Located 60 miles east of Puerto Rico (PR), the BVI has exquisite white sandy beaches, historical sites, and numerous cultural attractions (BVI Tourism Board, 2016). The BVI also has fishing, picturesque blue waters, sailing, and dive sites (BVI Tourism Board, 2016). The BVI has an excellent environment for tourism development with beautiful waters and unique diving excursions (BVI Tourism Board, 2016). Many researchers have identified tourism as the main industry for economic growth in many countries (Njoroge, 2015). Tourism is one of the two economic pillars in the BVI and contributes to the country's economic growth (BVI Tourism Board, 2016; Njoroge, 2015). As a result, enhancing the

tourism and hospitality industry may be destined to play a pivotal role in the BVI's future economic prosperity.

During the 1960s, when most Eastern Caribbean countries opted towards self-rule to break away from colonialism, the BVI chose to remain dependent, a decision that ultimately impacted the determination to decline full membership within the West Indies Federation (BVI Tourism Board, 2016; Njoroge, 2015). As a result, in 1962, the BVI formally became a dependent territory of the British (BVI Tourism Board, 2016; Njoroge, 2015). The BVI includes 60 cays and islets with four main islands: Tortola, Virgin Gorda, Anegada, and Jost Van Dyke (BVI Tourism Board, 2016; Njoroge, 2015). From the early 1960s, the BVI government invested and implemented strategies to contribute to the growth and prosperity of the economy (Cohen, 1995).

Tourism in the BVI contributes to 40% of the gross domestic product and the remainder comes from international banking and other industries (BVI Tourism Board, 2016; Development Planning Unit, 2015). According to the most recent census data in 2013, the BVI's population is 29,151, with an average household monthly income of \$2,452.73, and an average expenditure of \$1,000.00 (Development Planning Unit, 2015). More than half of the BVI population came from migration (Cohen, 1995). Many nationalities came to the BVI to seek employment, particularly in the hospitality industry, which includes yacht charters (Cohen, 1995).

The reason for developing the yacht chartering industry within the BVI tourism product was to highlight the uniqueness of its entire, pristine natural environment (BVI Tourism Board, 2016). The natural environment is responsible for many of the people visiting the BVI and is behind the BVI's nickname "Nature's Little Secret" (BVI Tourism Board, 2016; Cohen, 1995). Cohen (1995) stated that the opening of Little Dix Bay Resort and the first yacht chartering company in 1969 helped with the prosperous economy. The BVI has a visitor expenditure of \$458.50 million, a 1.09 % increase from the year 2013 (Development Planning Unit, 2015). Of the total expenditures, 53% attributes to yacht charters, 27% hotels, 10% other, and 7% cruise ship (Development Planning Unit, 2015). The Development Planning Unit (2015) indicated that in 2014, 513,118 tourists visited the BVI, an increase of 1% arrivals from 2013. Of these arrivals, 70% came from the United States, 7% from Canada, 4% from the United Kingdom, 4% from France, 3% from Germany, and 13% from other countries (Development Planning Unit, 2015).

BVI government officials see the tourism industry as a priority for maintaining and improving the well-being of the territory (BVI Tourism Board, 2016). Political stability in tourism allows the people of the BVI to develop further and enhance infrastructure, such as widening the territory's airspace and roads and accommodating the expansion of a cruise ship pier, which is necessary for tourism to flourish (Cohen, 1995). However, Dwyer, Pham, Forsyth, and Spurr (2014) noted that government support and the current tourism budget allocated for marketing and promotion activities of tourism in the BVI are insufficient compared to other Caribbean islands. Because of the accessibility to these islands, the alternative Caribbean islands have a competitive advantage to the BVI (Dwyer et al., 2014). Thus far, the BVI tourism product includes guaranteed sustainability (BVI Tourism Board, 2016). This sustainability is produced by both local managers and entrepreneurs who work to not only increase the influx of tourists but also the level of their satisfaction (Begum et al., 2014). This factor, combined with the increase in revenue, will also help to strengthen the BVI's position in the global market as a potential tourism avenue (BVI Tourism Board, 2016).

A tourism destination is a destination that has various products and services to meet visitor needs (Lamsfus et al., 2013). A visitor selects a tourist destination based on whether he or she believes the destination has all the desired amenities (Buhalis & Amaranggana, 2013). Therefore, as Lamsfus et al., (2013) stated, most tourists' perceptions of a destination are a result of information gathered from various travel information boards. To identify one destination over another destination, it is necessary to a look at a combination of various components in the destination that can satisfy the traveler's perception prior, during, and after a trip (Chung, Lee, Lee, & Koo, 2015). Additionally, Buhalis (2000) added that to qualify as a tourism destination, destinations should be measured according to the six A's:

- Attractions: natural, man-made, artificial, purpose built, heritage, and special events
- Accessibility: transportation comprised of routes, terminals, and vehicles
- Amenities: accommodation, catering facilities, retailing, and other tourist services
- Available Packages: pre arranged packages by intermediaries and principals
- Activities: jet skiing, hiking, tours
- Ancillary Services: services used by tourists, such as banks, post offices, telecommunication, newsagents, and hospitals

The potential to mainstream tourism was established as agriculture became limited, and to some nonexistent (O'Neal, 2012). As time progressed through slavery in the BVI, agriculture became dominant and soon after mass production of sugarcane became the norm of most British Caribbean colonies (O'Neal, 2012). Similarly sugar cane became the main crop of the BVI, which allowed the BVI to conduct foreign trade with Danish West Indies islands for instance St. Thomas and other nearby islands (O'Neal, 2012). In the mid-1960s, the BVI began to seek interest in financial services and tourism known as the *twin pillars* (BVI Tourist Board, 2016).

O'Loughlin (1962) recommended that the BVI pursue tourism as their main source of economic development, which may likely bring a higher standard of living to the population. The acceptance of the O'Loughlin report validated the construction of Laurance Rockefeller's Little Dix Bay Hotel in Virgin Gorda in 1964 as the promotion and development strategy of the tourism era in the BVI (Cohen, 2010). After, Prospect Reef Hotel featured 131 rooms in Road Town, Tortola (O'Neal, 2012). The Development Planning Unit (2015) indicated that in 1981, 154,500 tourists visited the BVI--an increase of 782% arrivals from 1967.

Of the twin pillars, tourism is the most important industry employing a large percentage of both local and nonnationals skilled, and professional positions in the territory, equating to many local entrepreneurs within the industry (O'Neal, 2012). The main reason for tourism is to temporary escape from everyday life routines, stress, and constraints (Rasouli & Timmermans, 2014). During this economic growth of the BVI, Hillmer-Pelgram (2013) labeled the BVI as the "Sunny Success Story" because of the fast growth noted far more than in any other British Caribbean islands. Therefore, it is vital that the BVI maintain and continue the transformation of the tourism-based economy in the BVI.

Tourism Motivation

Many researchers, who have studied tourist behavior, try to understand what tourists do and why they make the decisions to do what they do (D'Avanzo & Pilato, 2014). Tourists' motivation is one of the major factors behind choosing a destination over another as related to the ultimate goal of remaining profitable (Pratminingsih, Rudatin, & Rimenta, 2014). The focus of earlier researchers was to understand the reasons why tourists travel (Crompton, 1979; Dann 1981), and these reasons are a crucial factor for comprehending tourist behavior (Tangeland, Vennesland, & Nybakk, 2013). However, before examining the various sources, establishing a definition of motivations is vital for presenting the research. According to Zhang and Peng (2014), motivation is a set of needs that persuade persons to act and to find a way to obtain satisfaction. With this definition as a baseline, the research indicates that motivation is one of the major factors that drive tourists' decisions to choose a destination of choice (Pratminingsih et al., 2014). As a major factor in understating tourist motivations, researchers with a history of studying tourist behavior focused primarily on understanding two main factors: (a) what tourists want to do on their vacation and (b) why they make the decisions to do what they do (D'Avanzo & Pilato, 2014). While the research landscape before 2016 focuses on what tourists want to do on their vacation and why they make the decisions to do what

they do (D'Avanzo & Pilato, 2014), Crompton's (1979) and Dann's (1981) studies offered some of the earliest research into tourist motivations.

Crompton's (1979) and Dann's (1981) research suggested more fundamental approach and included the basic question as to why tourists travel, as a crucial factor in understanding tourist behavior (Tangeland et al., 2013). The literature also strongly reflects that tourism officials, who are aware of tourist behavior, used insights into these questions to develop strategies to capitalize on benefits from tourist behavior, tourist expectations, and travel experiences to encourage future travel (Battour, Ismail, Battor, & Awais, 2014; Grafeld et al., 2016; Kim, Kim,& King, 2016). Building on the earlier definition of motivation being a set of needs that persuade persons to act and to find a way to obtain satisfaction (Zhang & Peng, 2014), Crompton offered the perspective that inspiration or enthusiasm can influence an individual to accomplish an event as a quest for personal satisfaction. With this understanding, tourist's motivation fall into four travel market segments: (a) business travel, (b) government or corporate business travel, (c) visitation of friends and relatives, and (d) pleasure vacation travel (Crompton, 1979).

Maslow's (1954) hierarchy of needs model is a useful tool for understanding tourism motivation. This five-stage model depicts a hierarchal pyramid of needs based on physiological needs (Maslow, 1954). These needs form two categories portraying higherlevel needs and lower level needs for self-actualization (Adiele & Abraham, 2013). Maslow's five-stage model pyramid depicts, in descending order, from top to bottom the following: biological and physiological needs, safety needs, love and belongingness needs, esteem needs, and self-actualization needs. The model advances the idea that of accomplishment before the feat of selfactualization, an individual attain the hierarchy of needs according to the Maslow's (1954) pyramid. Maslow proposed that this model helps to explain the process individuals undergo in fulfilling psychological needs. This model proposed fulfilling lesser needs before higher needs. For example, if an individual is hungry or homeless, (a base or lower need) considering the virtues of career opportunities (need to fulfill selfactualization) will be irrelevant (Maslow, 1954). Following this notion, this example holds that self-actualization occurs following fulfillment of all other needs. Further expansion of this model shows the placement of lower or basic psychological needs such as hunger, thirst, shelter, and sexuality at a higher priority level than needs promoting self-actualization (Adiele & Abraham, 2013; Maslow, 1954).

Next, in the Maslow's (1954) pyramid model hierarchy is the safety needs aspect. This element includes description ofneeds, such as security, protection from pain, fear, and anxiety (Adiele & Abraham, 2013; Maslow, 1954). Safety needs also include the need for sheltering dependency, order, and lawfulness (Adiele & Abraham, 2013; Maslow, 1954). Conceptually, after attaining the previous needs, there is now a need for belongingness, which involves love, affection, emotional security, social acceptance, and a sense of identity (Adiele & Abraham, 2013; Liu & Mattila, 2015).

The next level is the higher needs or esteem needs (Maslow, 1954). With these needs, the focus of the needs elevates to less basic needs such as achieving goals and gaining approval, as well as recognition from ones' peers (Adiele & Abraham, 2013). At the top of the needs pyramid is self-actualization, which is self-fulfillment through the

realization of potential and ability based on the need for comprehension and insight into society and the world (Maslow, 1954; Moscardo, Dann, & McKercher, 2014). In contrast to Maslow's (1954) pyramid model, other studies present a slightly different perspective on tourism motivational factors.

Although Crompton (1979) was the first to expound on the classification of tourist motivations into push and pull tourism factors, Dann (1981) was the first to use these terms *push and pull factors*. Crompton's research identified two distinct types of sociopsychological motivations as drivers of the fundamental aspects of tourist's decisionmaking process. The first driving force is the initial decision to travel, whereas the second plays a role in deciding to choose a destination, location, or event (Crompton, 1979). Researchers widely accept the theory of both push and pull motivational factors (Battour et al., 2014; Bhargava, 2013; Chung Koo & Kim, 2014; Dann, 1981; Naidoo & Rughoonauth, 2015; Seebaluck, Munhurrun, Wang, Luo, & Tang 2015). The concept behind this theory is that people travel based on a push by internal forces and a pull from external forces, while considering the composition of a destination's attributes (Canziani, & Gladwell, 2014; Chung et al., 2014; Gursoy et al., 2015; Kraftchick & Byrd, 2014).There are two types of motives to travel, which are push motives and pull motives (Chung et al., 2014; Kayat, Sharif, & Karnchanan, 2013; Maslow, 1954).

Push motives to travel. Push motives originating from Maslow's (1954) hierarchy of needs model are intrinsic motivations that provide fundamental goals and needs that are the basis of behavior motivation (Chung et al., 2014; Kayat et al., 2013; Maslow, 1954). Accordingly, Prebensen, Woo, Chen, and Uysal, (2012) and Jensen Lindberg and Østergaard, (2015), push factors correlate to a tourist's need to make a trip, the experience, and the destination they seek. Therefore, these needs have influenced the individual to act on them from an emotional conundrum requiring them to mentally escape from their daily routine (Radicchi, 2013; Šimková & Holzner, 2014). Nassar, Mostafa, and Reisinger (2015) identified the following four push factors of motivation to travel to a destination: (a) leisure and recreation, (b) visiting friends and relatives, (c) health and wellness, and (d) religion. Mody, Day, Sydnor, Jaffe, and Lehto, (2014) and Lehto (2014) identified additional common push factors, such as novelty, seekers, and socializers. Šimková and Holzner (2014) claimed that escaping from the daily routine and workplace and fulfilling social needs, such as meeting other people and experiencing something unique or unusual are the needs of the tourist. Crompton (1979) singled out eight motivational push factors:

- Escape is the change in environment, which allows travelers to explore, discover, evaluate and reevaluate the destination.
- Relaxation is an individual's method of attaining mental rest often via engaging in activities outside their normal routine.
- Prestige is the traveler's desire to travel to the destination that does not have heavy tourist traffic.
- Regression is the traveler's vacation that allows him/her to distance one's self from their normal surroundings to engage in behavior that is outside the scope of his/her usual practice.
- Enhancement of kinship relationships is the traveler's desire to be brought closer together with family and friends to strengthen bonds.
- Facilitation of social interaction is the traveler's desire for socialization, meeting new people and experiencing different aspects of life.
- Novelty is the tendency of tourists to desire experiencing new activities and unvisited destinations.
- Education is the tourist's desire to learn the history of his/her destination location to enhance his or her vacation experience.

Pull motives to travel. Pull factors deemed as extrinsic motivations, which are a result of the attractiveness of the image of the destination (Seebaluck et al., 2015). The destination image refers to characteristics that attract visitors to visit the destination (Crompton, 1979). Pull motives fall into four categories: historical and heritage attractions; cultural and cuisine experiences; rest and relaxation facilities; and family and friend bonding opportunities (Leong, Yeh, Hsiao, & Huan, 2015). Many tourists evaluate the destination image based on the destination's characteristics (Kayat et al., 2013; Zhang Xiaoxiao, Liping, & Lin, 2014). Hence, the ideal situation requires the needs of the visitors due to the above factors that individuals use to decide on their destinations (Kayat et al., 2013; Leong et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2014). Chen and Chen (2015) stated that a combination of push and pull factors attract a different type of travelers seeking various values.

Some would argue that pull factors are more straightforward and identifiable because they are external making the visited location easier to compare (Caber &

Albayrak, 2016; Lai & Vinh, 2013; Pretense et al., 2012; Tangeland et al., 2013). However, the pull factors that attract one visitor to a destination could significantly vary from the pull factors that attract another visitor to the same destination (Prayag & Hosany, 2014; Prebensen et al., 2012). The destination choice originates from tourists' assessments of a location's qualities and includes factors such as natural and cultural attractions, social opportunities, physical amenities and facilities, nightlife, and ambiance (Kim et al., 2016; Lacher, Oh, Jodice, & Norman, 2013; Prayag & Hosany, 2014).Kassean and Gassita, (2013) and Mussalam and Tajeddini, (2016) listed culture link, accessibility, products, quality, advantage, events, ecological attributes, shopping, and natural amenities as examples of pull motivations.

History of push-pull motivation to travel. The push-pull concept is among the considerable number of works on tourism motivation (Chen & Chen, 2015; Li, Zhang, & Cai, 2013; Tangeland et al., 2013) and there are empirical studies that distinguish the many push-pull factors. Crompton (1979) conducted one of the earliest investigations into motivation to travel. Crompton identified nine common push-pull motivation factors behind an individual's decision to travel: (a) escape, (b) exploration, (c) relaxation, (d) prestige, (e) regression, (f) enhancement of family relationship, (g) social interaction, (h) novelty, and (i) education. Furthermore, Li et al. (2013) used 82 push-pull items and identified 10push-pull motivational factors: (a) escape and relax, (b) fulfillment of unprecedented experiences, (c) business, (d) child education, (e) development, (f) relationship and family togetherness, (g) natural scenery, (h) self-development, (i) shopping, and j) nostalgia. An additional push-pull motivation factor analysis conducted

by Scholtz, Kruger, and Saayman (2013) found six motivational factors : (a) escape, (b) finances (c) socializing and exploration (d) family, and (e) wildlife experience. Moreover, Chen, Bao, and Huang (2014) surveyed persons to understand what their motivations were and identified four motivations to travel factors: (a) interaction, (b) self-actualization, (c) destination experience, and (d) escape and relaxation. For aforementioned, Dan's (1977) concepts were the underlying basis for identifying the push-pull motivation to travel factors to examine why an individual would be motivated to travel.

Similarly, Correia et al. (2013) examined the relation of motivation to travel and tourist satisfaction, and found three push-pull motivations to travel factors that are: (a) novelty, (b) knowledge, and (c) facilities. Lee and Hsu's (2013) study also found three push-pull motivational factors: (a) cultural experiences (b) leisure, and (c) psychology and self-expression. Additionally, Li and Ryan (2014) explored what motivates Chinese tourists to visit North Korea, and discovered that tourists were curious and mysterious, noting that curiosity was the most significant factor in the decision to visit a country. The more the destination is mysterious, the more visitors want to travel to the location (Lin & Ryan, 2014). However, some travelers would rather not visit a destination that is too crowded (Li & Ryan, 2014). Mody et al. (2014) identified the motivational responsibility for international and domestic travelers visiting India. Three push-pull motivational factors (a) novelty, (b) seekers, and (c) socializers (Mody et al., 2014).

There is no single instrument established as the benchmark for motivational factors. In fact, the devised methods of measurement vary to fit parameters of specific

research. However, this review identifies a series of valid questions related to each variable as a reasonable basis for measurement. Chapter 1, Table 2 indicates the variable and related questions.

Table 2

Variable	Definition	Question	
Tourism motivations	Motivation is a set of needs that persuade persons to act and to find a way to obtain satisfaction.	What is your primary reason for traveling? Why did you take this particular vacation? Why did you decide to travel at this time? What do you hope to get out of this vacation?	
Push factors	Push factors correlate to a tourist's need to make a trip, the experience, and or the destination they seek	Rate the following travel reasons from most important to least important: Escape, Relaxation, Prestige, Regression, Relationships, social interaction Novelty, Education. Of these topics, which is the most important and why? How long since your last vacation?	
Pull factors	Pull factors are considered as extrinsic motivations, which are a result of the attractiveness of the image of the destination	What about this location made you want to visit? How did you find out about this location? What attributes of this location attraction did you enjoy most? How did you learn of this location?	
Destination image	The accumulated mental images that a person has of a destination as a result of their interaction with the tourism products and services	What did you like about the images you saw of the destination? What was your impression of the location based on the images you saw? What image attracted you the most? What image attracted you the least? How did the image make you feel about this destination?	
Tourist satisfaction	The essence of consumer's experiences with products and services	Would you come back to this location? What was your favorite part of the visit? Which was your favorite part of this visit? Which was your least favorite part of this (<i>table continues</i>)	

Variable and Related Questions

Variable	Definition	Question
		Visit? Is this location better or worse than other locations you have visited and why? What was yourfirst impression of the location upon arrival? Did the location live up to your expectations?

Note: Tourism motivations definition and questions retrieved from Zhang and Peng (2014); Push factors definition and questions retrieved from Prebensen, Woo, Chen and Uysal (2012); Pull factors definition and questions retrieved from Seebaluck et al. (2015); Destination image definition and questions retrieved from Gunn (1972); Tourism satisfaction definition and questions retrieved from Belanche, Casaló and Guinalíu, (2012) and Dayour and Adongo, (2015).

Table 2 does not include every conceivable question of a customer; however, the table presents measurable responses from guests. Aside from possible questions posed in a survey setting, previous literature also suggested that researchers adapt scales to explore specific motivational factor (Prayag & Hosany, 2014). Caber and Albayrak (2016) aim to determine whether any other items should be included in the measurement tool to identify push-pull motivation to travel factors. The measurement of push-pull factors depends on the attributes of the destination, which represent the perceptions of the destination (Prayag & Hosany, 2014). Hence, understanding the visitor's push-pull motivation to travel to a destination may explain a visitor's choices and their repeat visitation (Wang, Luo, & Tang, 2015).

Travelers get a push from a psychological factor or they get a pull from external forces based on the destination's attributes (Leong et al., 2015; Seebaluck et al., 2015). Travelers search for simultaneous satisfaction of their needs and want, which makes their motivational factors multifaceted (Bhargava, 2013). Along with push-pull motives, the

characteristic of the destination helps the individual determine which destination to visit. Therefore, Kim, Oh, and Jogaratnam's (2006) and Mohammad and Som's (2010) classification of push-pull factors is in a survey modified to fit the BVI.

In summary, targeting tourists by the activities they pursue enables tourism authorities to identify and understand tourist travel-related behavior by observing their patterns and needs (Kim et al., 2016). Many scholars studied the relationship between motivation and visitor satisfaction while defining the motivation factors influenced by tourist satisfaction respectively in their study (Caber & Albayrak, 2016; Lee & Hsu, 2013; Lee, Kang, & Lee, 2013). Almeida, Correia, and Pimpão, (2014) proclaimed that other scholarssuggested that offering fresh air as a motivational factor is insufficient for a satisfactory experience. For this reason, many other factors affect the tourism destination selection to ensure tourist satisfaction (Caber & Albayrak, 2016; Prayag, Hosany, Muskat, & Del Chiappa, 2015).

Destination Image

The destination image is an independent variable in the proposed study that references the impressions a tourist may acquire based on different pre-conceived notions about a destination (Battour et al., 2014; Crompton, 1979; Ramseook-Munhurrun, Seebaluck, & Naidoo, 2015). In tourism literature, no consensus exists on a universal definition of destination image; however, Gunn (1972) was among the first scholars to propose a theory of destination image formation. This theory purports that images represented the accumulation of mental images that a person has for a destination because of their interaction with the tourism products and services. This baseline definition led to other researchers examining various aspects of destination image formation (Jiménez-Zarco & Izquierdo-Yusta, 2015; Llodrà-Riera, Martínez-Ruiz, Özdemir, & Şimşek, 2015; Rajesh, 2013). One such study focused on understanding the influences of destination image on traveler's intentions to travel to certain destinations (Deng et al., 2013; Kayat et al., 2013; Özdemir & Şimşek, 2015; Zhang, Fu, Cai, & Lu, 2014). Another related study focused on the relationships between destination image and relevant variables, such as tourist service quality, tourists' satisfaction, and their impact on intentions to return to a particular destination (Stylos, Vassiliadis, Bellou, & Andronikidis, 2016; Tan & Wu, 2016; Tosun, Dedeoğlu, & Fyall, 2015; Zhang et al. 2014). As the research reflects, image and imagery proved to be a very informative variable in understanding the impact of destination image that lent to a deeper look into travelers' image-related decisions(Stylos etal.,, 2016; Tan & Wu, 2016; Tosun et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2014).

Cognitive and affective are two concepts of destination image derived from other studies by Agapito, Oom do Valle, and da Costa Mendes (2013) and Chung et al. (2015). Imagery allows the ability to formulate pre- and post- judgments regarding destination image based on any external stimuli received (Agapito, et al., 2013; Chung et al., 2015). According to Zhang et al. (2014), the cognitive concept refers to the interpretation of knowledge and beliefs regarding the physical attributes of a destination. The affective concept refers to the individual's feelings, while pertaining to the attributes and the natural environments (Költringer & Dickinger, 2015). This behavior implies that cognitive stimuli fall under the pre-judgments of knowledge and beliefs; whereas, affective stimuli the visiterpost visit to the destination, how they feel about attributes and natural environments (Prayag et al., 2015).

Agapito et al. (2013) agreed with the cognitive and affective concepts examined by Zhang et al. (2014), but also introduced a third concept. Agapito et al.'s theory stated that destination image comprised of three components: cognitive, affective, and conative. The cognitive component is the evaluation of destination attributes; affectively refers to one's emotions and feelings towards the intended destination; and lastly conative component speaks to a person's intention to visit a destination (Choi et al., 2015; Ryu, Decosta, & Andéhn, 2016; Xie & Lee, 2013).

With the third conative component introduced, further research touched on other aspects of tourist behavior (Elliot & Papadopoulos, 2015). Elliot and Papadopoulos (2015) claimed that while cognitive and affective components added an emotional consideration to the destination images, visitors based their decision to recommend the destination to others as a result of the conative component (Llodrà-Riera et al., 2015). The belief is that global evaluations refer to the overall image perceptions of visitors (Kayat et al., 2013; Prayag & Hosany, 2014). Some researchers stated that all three components should be measured together to satisfy the tourist interests and personal needs (Papadimitriou, Apostolopoulou, & Kaplanidou, 2013; Servidio, 2015).

Destination image influences tourists' buying behavioral patterns towards a specific destination, and as a result affected tourist satisfaction (Deng et al., 2013; Kayatet al., 2013; Seebaluck et al., 2013). Destination image impacts tourist satisfaction, which in turn affects the intentions of a revisit (Phillips, Wolfe, Hodur, & Leistritzet, 2013; Suhartanto & Triyuni, 2016). Ramseook et al. (2015) stated that in the mind of a visitor, destination image could be very persuasive, determining both purchasing decisions and a visitor's intentions to visit or revisit. Tawil and Al Tamimi (2013) also listed and described three components of destination image which include: the product - the quality of the destination's attributes; the behavior and attitude of the destination hosts –how the destination accommodated the consumer; and the environment –weather, scenery, and facilities. Island destinations image equates to an exotic destination, which includes pristine beaches, white sand, blue sea, landscape, biodiversity, and vibrant culture to attract visitors (Lucrezi& van der Walt, 2016; Seebaluck et al., 2013). Ramseook-Munhurrun et al. (2015) argued that beaches are major attractions for the tourism industry and the beaches were a motivational factor for tourists to visit island destinations. Studies drew distinctions based on the quality of a destination image as related to customer satisfaction.

Assaker and Hallak (2013) agreed with Zhang et al. (2014), in that destination image does influence future returns based on consumer satisfaction. Assaker and Hallak argued that the more favorable the destination image was, the higher the result in overall customer satisfaction. Many researchers stated that customer satisfaction influences future customer behavior (Deng et al., 2013; Kayatet al., 2013; Seebaluck et al., 2013). Additionally, researchers argued that a positive image of a destination reinforces the traveler's decision to visit; however, a negative image will deter a traveler from visiting (Chen, Chen, & Okumus, 2013; Chen & Phou, 2013; Pietila & Fagerholm, 2016; Zhang et al., 2014). By contrast, Kayat, Sharif, and Karnchanan (2013) recognized that destination image directly and indirectly influences customer satisfaction and behavioral intentions. Quintal, Phau, and Polczynski (2014) proclaimed that when the positive image overshadows a negative image, tourists are more eager to visit. Quintal et al. (2014) suggested a logical correlation that positive destination images produce increased customer satisfaction. A destination must align its destination image with its customer satisfaction goals as interrelated factors that influence the tourist buying process (Stylos et al., 2016). Furthermore, Ryu et al. (2016) and Cucculelli and Goffi (2016) advanced the notion that tourists' perceptions of a destination do affect the destination image and its sustainability. Tourists' perceptions further exemplify the importance of destination image as related to a tourist destination to maintain a competitive stance in the industry.

For a destination to remain competitive, the destination must find strategies to maximize earnings and always maintain the positive destination image comparable with alternative destinations (Mwaura, Acquaye, & Jargal, 2013). The destination should implement strategies to promote and attract more visitors in this competitive environment. Mwaura et al. (2013) stated that although promotional campaigns can be expensive, the awareness that the campaign brings to the destination enhances the images of the destination. Destinations maintain and enhance their image to increase tourism receipts, income, employment, and government revenues among other contributions of international tourism (Ramseook-Munhurrun et al., 2015).

The conceptualization of destination image varies based on each researcher's study (Olya & Altinay, 2016). The cognitive, affective, and conative components of

destination image should be included in the destination images evaluation process because the exclusion of any component may result in an incomplete measurement (Rasoolimanesh, Jaafar, Marzuki, & Mohamad, 2015). Rasoolimanesh et al. (2015) recommended that future researchers should use guidelines for measuring destination image based on four criteria: (a) attributes and holistic components; (b) functional and psychological characteristics of the attributes and holistic components; (c) integrated, unique and common features of a particular destination; and (d) use of qualitative and quantitative methodology to measure the quality of the destination image. Examining various push-pull motivations to travel and the impact of the destination image can logically advance the review to an analysis of the next variable, tourist satisfaction and its essential role in understanding and maintaining profitability.

Tourist Satisfaction

Tourist satisfaction orcustomer satisfaction is an integral component of marketing that affects customer retention, profitability, and competitiveness (Kärnä, 2014). Customer satisfaction is the key to securing customer loyalty and long-term financial performance (Deng et al., 2013; Kärnä, 2014). Understanding customer satisfaction brings a positive reaction to an organization, such as long-term benefits, customer loyalty, and organizational profitability (Cheng et al., 2015; Grafeld et al., 2016; Kärnä, 2014). In every market, an organization must define customer satisfaction (Kärnä, 2014). Understanding the impact of a satisfied tourist allows the competitiveness of the destination increases through customer retention and the destination sustainability. Belanche, Casaló, and Guinalíu, (2012) and Dayour and Adongo, (2015) identified satisfaction as the essence of consumer's experiences with products and services. Quality is a determining factor in the consumer's intent to repurchase a product or service (Ali, Dey & Filiferin, 2015). Quality is a clear and concise indication of how customers emotionally evaluate their experiences (Altunel & Erkut, 2015). Therefore, the destination should ensure that quality of the product or services consume, produces a satisfied tourist with the intent to repurchase.

Some researchers completed an extensive investigation into tourist satisfaction with their chosen tourism destinations (Grafeld et al., 2016; Rajaratnam et al., 2014; Rajesh, 2013). The goal was to understand the influence(s) of tourist satisfaction based on their intentions to travel to a destination (Caber & Albayrak, 2016). Researchers examined other influences of tourist satisfaction such as tourist service quality and the impact on intentions to return (Kim, Holland, & Han, 2013; Marković & Raspor Janković, 2013; Prayag, Hosany, & Odeh, 2013; Rajesh, 2013). In previous studies includes variables such as motivation, destination image, and tourist satisfactionhowever, no one study included all three variables. Tourist satisfaction is the tourists' overall evaluation of the destination experience, which fulfills their desires, expectations, and needs (Ramseook-Munhurrun et al., 2015). Tourist satisfaction is the visitor's emotional response that precedes their cognitive responses to the service experience (Cong, 2016). As mentioned by Ramseook-Munhurrun et al. (2015) and Cong (2016), tourist satisfaction is the tourist's assessment of the destination's characteristics. Therefore, based on their experience satisfied tourists are likely to return to the destination and recommend the destination to others (Araslı & Baradarani, 2014). Various factors that affect the level of satisfaction influence a tourist's perception of a destination (Araslı & Baradarani, 2014). Identified factors are accommodations, restaurants, attractions, environment, accessibility, and safety (Chew & Jahari, 2014). Moreover, Belanche et al. (2012) and Dayour and Adongo (2015) agreed that the destination's products and services influence tourist satisfaction. Hence, the outcome of high levels of satisfaction leads to repeated purchase of services and vacations, as well as positive word-of-mouth (WOM) referrals (Confente, 2014; Ramseook-Munhurrun et al., 2015).

Chung et al. (2015) stated that there are three reasons to guarantee that consumers are satisfied: positive WOM, recurrence in customer visits, and addressing complaints promptly. WOM leads to the recommendation of a product or service to family and friends; repeat customers bring a steady source of income (Yeoh, Othman, & Ahmad, 2013). Dealing with complaints may be very expensive and time-consuming; however, positive handling of complaints leads to a good reputation for an organization (Ogbeide, Böser, & Harrinton, 2015).When a destination follows the three reasons as explained by Chung et al. the destination becomes more competitive to the alternative; thereby, improving the destination's sustainability in the tourism industry.

Furthermore, to understand customer satisfaction, it is important to distinguish between the overall satisfaction and the tourist satisfaction with an individual attribute of the tourism experience (Rajesh, 2013). Rajesh (2013) stated that satisfaction might be a psychological state of mind that the tourist brings to the destination, based on the destination preconceptions. Rajesh also noted that there are three types of satisfaction related to tourist experiences: (a) emotional response: response to an emotional or cognitive judge; (b) objects of customer satisfaction: a response to specific focus of the trip; and (c) a response to a particular moment of the trip. Regarding products, these three stages would occur before purchase, after the purchase, and after consumption respectively (Rajesh, 2013).

Past researchers indicated that tourist satisfaction is also an excellent indicator of repurchase intention (Phillips et al., 2013; Su, Swanson, & Chen, 2016). Tourism leaders should always satisfy their customers to retain them (Phillips et al., 2013; Su et al., 2016). Ultimate guest satisfaction also requires tourism officials to be able to identify and modify services, which affect the tourist's experience and the destination product for maximum satisfaction (Kayat et al., 2013;Hosany, 2014). Constant effort is also an imperative for tourism officials to improve the tourism experience by understanding the components that impact the ability to increase consumer satisfaction and visitation (Simpson & Siguaw, 2013). These factors ultimately result in the improvement of the financial feasibility and success of the organization (Kayat et al., 2013; Prayag & Hosany, 2014; Simpson & Siguaw, 2013).

Summary

This review included examination of research that draws distinct parallels and relationships between factors that influence tourist behavior based on the Oliver's (1980) expectancy-disconfirmation theory. This theory statesthat an individual will act in a way because of the expectation of a certain outcome (Oliver, 1980). Disconfirmation is a

visitor's expectation of the performance of a facet normally attributed to the enhancement of a visitor's travel experience, such as the aesthetics of a country (Oliver, 1980). In support of this theory, Zhang and Peng (2014) focused on the three primary variables in discussing the expectancy-disconfirmation theory: tourism motivations, destination image, and tourist satisfaction.

First, I draw the parallels between motivation to travel and what components drive people to travel. Building on the baseline definition of motivations as presented by Zhang and Peng (2014), motivations are a direct result of eight internal push factors and several external pull factors that are the root of travel motivations (Crompton, 1979). Through an examination of these factors, the literature revealed that destination image, another significant variable that influences tourist behavior, played a large role in traveler's decision-making processes helping to shape push-pull factors (Caber & Albaytrak, 2016; Kayat et al., 2013; Özdemir & Şimşek, 2015; Zhang et al., 2014). Furthermore, research revealed that not only was destination image influential in shaping travelers' motivations before taking a trip (Gunn, 1972), destination image also played heavily on influencing the travelers' level of satisfaction when comparing their experience with their expectation (Kärnä, 2014). Satisfaction being the factor that affects customer retention, profitability, and competitiveness (Kärnä, 2014), a direct relationship exists between tourism motivations, destination image, and the customer's ultimate satisfaction (Kimet al., 2016; Prayag & Hosany, 2014).

Transition

Section 1 began with a discussion on the importance of understanding tourist satisfaction for leaders can improve the BVI tourism industry. However, some tourism officials and managers in the BVI do not know whether a relationship exists between destination images, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction. Therefore, I will use a quantitative correlational study to examine if a relationship exists between destination images, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction. According to Oliver's (1980) expectancy-disconfirmation theory, an individual will act in a way because of the expectation of a certain outcome.

Section 2 will include the role of the researcher, lists eligibility criteria for the participant, and describes research method I chose for this study. In the section, I will also provide information on the sampling technique used, a discussion of the data collection, the instrument used for data collection, and its reliability and validity, and finally, the data analysis. Section 3 will include a presentation of the findings, a discussion regarding the applicability of professional practice, information on the implications for social change, recommendations for action and further research, reflections, and the conclusion of the study.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 will begin with a restatement of the purpose of the study, followed by a discussion of the role of a researcher, the study participants, the research method, and the population and sample strategy. I will also discuss issues associated with conducting ethical research, the instrumentation, and the data collection and analysis techniques. The section will end with a discussion of study validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of the quantitative correlational study was to examine if a relationship exists between destination images, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction. The first predictor variable was destination image. Push and pull motives, another predictor variable, consisted of 13 predictor variables: (a) push knowledge, (b) push sightseeing variety, (c) push adventure, (d) push relax, (e) push lifestyles, (f) push family, (g) pull event and activities, (h) pull sightseeing variety, (i) pull easy access and affordability, (j) pull history and culture, (k) pull variety seeking, (l) pull adventure, and (m) pull natural resources. The criterion variable was tourist satisfaction. The population was comprised of departing tourists in the British Virgin Islands (BVI) from the period of March 2017 to April 2017. The implications for this study of positive social change include contributing to the economic enhancement of the BVI, which may help to generate employment and entrepreneurship opportunities for residents and sustainability benefiting the local community.

Role of the Researcher

In a quantitative study, the role of the researcher may include (a) data gathering, (b) analyzing and interpreting data, and (c) presenting the study results (Eide & Showalter, 2012; Freire, Santos, & Sauer, 2016). For this study, I used a survey in the data collection process; participants received a paper survey during the process of clearance entering the BVI. Because of the security levels at various ports of entry, I received a letter of cooperation to gain directed access to participants (see Appendix A), reducing any potential bias towards the study (see Breiby, 2015). I had participants complete a paper-and-pencil paper survey, anywhere convenient to them, because of the likelihood that Internet service may not be available (see McPeake, Bateson, & O'Neill, 2014).

Working in various sectors of the tourism industry before 2015, I had already read documents where stakeholders of the BVI communitysuggested some tourists might not be satisfied with the BVI tourism product. Numerous external factors in the BVI contribute to tourists' experiences, which includes sea and land-based activities. I did not interact with any participants of the study either in a professional or personal relationship manner. The data collected were trustworthy and adhered to the protocols outlined in the *Belmont Report* (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). In accordance with the *Belmont Report* guidelines, participants had the opportunity to decide whether to participate in the study and receive the respect they deserve (see U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). Participation was strictly voluntary, ensuring all individuals fully understood they could outright refuse to participate or withdraw at any

time. I treated each participant in an ethical manner as required by the human subject protocols identified in the *Belmont Report* (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979).

For ethical guidance compliance, I completed the online course entitled Protecting Human Research Participant and earned certificate number 1613158 (see Appendix B). In accordance with the *Belmont Report*, I granted all persons participating in this study the rights of respect, beneficence, and justice (see Manasanch et al., 2014). Beneficence is the researcher's ability to maximize benefits and reduce risks (Annoni et al., 2013; Quintal et al., 2014). The researcher must not cause any harm to the participants before, during, or after the study (Quintal et al., 2014). Furthermore, I was careful to ensure the distribution of surveys among the participants occurred in a just and fair manner (see Wester, 2011).

Participants

To participate in this study, participants had to meet specific eligibility criteria. The participants had to be noncitizens or nonresident visitors of the BVI entering at any port of entry into the BVI. Individuals of 18 years of age or older could participate in the study as a measure of protection to the participants. The participants were tourists departing from the BVI during the period of March 2017 to April 2017. Providing visual aids helped me in encouraging visitors to participate (see Alameda-Pineda et al., 2016; Farrell et al., 2014; Kumer, Recker, & Mendling, 2016). To gain access to participants, all monitors located at all ports of entry displayed several advertisements informing the visitors about the survey. The advertisements included a description of the survey purpose, the benefits of participating, eligibility criteria, the directions for survey completion and return, and instructions for obtaining a survey. The advertisement also included a statement that all participants were required to read the implied consent form before completing the survey (see Appendix C). I received a letter of cooperation to gain directed access to participants because of the security levels at various ports of entry(see Appendix A). When conducting a paper survey, participants tend to misplace their survey; therefore, alternate avenues to collect a survey were available (see Edelman et al., 2013; Kaur Mann & Kaur, 2016; Khan, Xiang, Aalsalem, & Arshad, 2013). In the event of any misplaced surveys, participants had the opportunity to obtain a survey from either ferry terminals or airport departure lounges. Participants had the option to withdraw from the study at any time, either by not completing or by not turning in the survey into a lock box at any port of departure.

Research Method

The method for this study was quantitative. The quantitative research method is the appropriate method for studies when researchers gather numeric data to examine the relationship (if one exists) between or among variables when answering the research question/s. (Reinholds et al., 2015; Rozin et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016). It can also examine how one or more variables affect or influence other variables (Barry et al., 2013; Pekar & Brabec, 2016; Seisonen, Vene, & Koppel, 2016; Zhang et al., 2016).

Testing the null hypothesis was the next course of action and the researchers used the quantitative method to test null hypotheses using parametric and non-parametric statistical tests (Aoyagi et al., 2015; Sanfilippo, Casson, Seyhan, Mackey, & Hewitt, 2016; Schneider, 2015). Quantitative researchers use statistical procedures to evaluate relationships among the various distinct variables in the study (Aoyagi et al., 2015; Olesen & Petersen, 2016; Schneider, 2015). Quantitative researchers also collect data from a sample, hoping to be able to generalize the results to a larger population (Cokley & Awad, 2013; Hitchcock & Newman, 2013; Schneider, 2015). This study involved examining the relationships that may exist between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourist satisfaction in the BVI. Furthermore, within quantitative research, researchers statistically analyze numerical data (Schneider, 2015; Turner et al., 2013; Venkatesh et al., 2013). Therefore, by using a quantitative method in this study, I tested whether a statistical relationship existed between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and BVI tourist satisfaction.

In this study, I collected numeric data using Likert-type items to examine the relationship (if any) between the study variables. A quantitative methodology was selected for this study, as the focus was on identifying any potential correlational relationship among variables and testing the null hypotheses (see Barry et al., 2013; Sanfilippo et al., 2016; Schneider, 2015). For this quantitative study, a deductive method was essential because the deductive method begins with a theory, then derives hypotheses and then test the hypotheses; therefore, a qualitative or mixed method would not have been appropriate (see Feisinger, 2013; Venkatesh et al., 2013; Zandvanian & Daryapoor, 2013).

Research Design

The design I selected for this study was correlational. The correlational design is an appropriate design when the researcher seeks to examine a non-causal relationship between or among variables (see Bleske-Rechek, Morrison, & Heidtke, 2014; Croker, 2012; Mosing et al., 2016). In this study, my objective was to examine whether a noncausal relationship existed among two independent variables (push and pull motive to travel and destination image) and one dependent variable (tourist's satisfaction). The researcher cannot manipulate the independent variables, nor randomly assign participants to levels of the independent variable, when conducting an experimental design (Al-Jarrah et al., 2015; Thorarensen, Kubiriza, & Imsland, 2015). In this study, the manipulation of destination image did not occur, along with the push and pull motives to travel, without me randomly assigning of people to each variable; therefore, I could not examine results using an experimental design (see Benredouane, 2016; Chirico et al., 2013; Howard et al., 2014). Additionally, the comparative design was not an appropriate design because my objective was not to make comparisons between variables (Atchley et al., 2013; Sharma, 2013; Yu-Jia, 2012).

Population and Sampling

The target population for this study included BVI tourists who visited between the period of March 2017 to April 2017. The estimated population of tourists for this time period was 152,190 (Development Planning Unit, 2015), which included visitors from places, such as the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Holland, Italy, Sweden, Spain, Argentina, Brazil, Venezuela, Organization of Eastern

Caribbean States countries, the French West Indies, and the Netherland Antilles (Development Planning Unit, 2015). The study population included noncitizens or nonresident visitors entering at any of the 10 ports of entry in the BVI. Individuals access the 10 ports of entry from Tortola (which has four air and seaports), Virgin Gorda (which has three air and seaports), Anegada (which has two air and seaports), and Jost Van Dyke (which has one seaport) (Development Planning Unit, 2015).

I used a nonprobability convenience sampling technique to identify participants for the study, as opposed to a probability sampling method, using random selection. Using a nonprobability sampling method, researchers unsystematically select participants; therefore, there is no guarantee that all members of the population had an equal chance of inclusion in the sample (see Azzalini, 2016; Baker et al., 2013; Skowronek & Duerr, 2009). The most common nonprobability sampling techniques are purposive and convenience sampling (Baker et al., 2013; Guest, Bunce, & Johnson, 2006; Ho, 2015). Convenience sampling refers to the availability of potential participants or the convenience of the researcher, which may not represent the target population (Baker et al., 2013; Guest et al., 2006; Wallace, Clark, & White, 2012). Convenience sampling allows a researcher to make generalizations based on the sample studied; hence, one drawback is the potential internal bias by the researcher (Agyemang, Nyanyofio, & Gyamfi, 2014; Dutang, Goegebeur, & Guillou, 2016; Nagara & Okoli, 2016). Convenience sampling is one of the most used sampling techniques because it is fast and inexpensive and the participants are more readily available (Bornstein et al., 2013; Dutang et al., 2016; Nagara & Okoli, 2016). In contrast, random sampling is relatively

straightforward, but very costly, with results more generalizable (Asendorpf et al., 2013; Barr et al., 2013; Janssen, 2013).

The sample size in a study should be large enough to satisfy the analysis used (Button et al., 2013; Laud & Dane, 2014; Thorarensen et al., 2015). A researcher must choose a population capable of providing a sample size adequate for generating sufficient data (Holland & Kopp-Schneider, 2015; Muskat, Blackman, & Muskat, 2012). Using a robust sample size is imperative for a researcher to interpret the study results accurately (Arseneau & Balion, 2016; Button et al., 2013; Holland & Kopp-Schneider, 2015).

To determine the needed sample size, I used a sample size calculator and conducted a power analysis. The sample size calculator was G* Power, a statistical software package researchers use for conducting an apriori sample size analysis (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009). A power analysis, using G*Power version 3.1.9 software, determined the appropriate sample size for the study. An apriori power analysis, assuming a medium effect size (f = .15), a = .05, indicated a minimum sample size of 135 participants was required to achieve a power of .80. Increasing the sample size to 236 increased power to .99. Therefore, I sought out between 135 and 236 participants for the study. Using a medium effect size (f = .15) and a = .05 was appropriate for this study as displayed in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Power as a function of sample size.

Ethical Research

The researcher's sole responsibility is to protect participants and to ensure the quality of the research results (Eide & Showalter, 2012). In this study, to comply with the *Belmont Report's* ethical guidelines, I took specific steps to protect the rights and confidentiality of research participants. The first step was to ensure participants received and read the information on the implied consent form before completing the survey.

Because of the security levels at various ports of entry, I received a letter of cooperation to gain directed access to participants. Therefore, I confirmed that all prospective participants were 18 years or older, and that the participant read the implied consent and consent form before completing the survey (see Appendix A). The survey included written instructions reminding the participants of when to complete the survey and where to return the completed survey at the end of their visit. As participants stoodin line waiting for processing by an official at all ports of entry for admittance, visitors wereable to view several advertisements about the survey displayed on monitors. The advertisements established ethical assurances by explaining rights of study participants

and protecting the participants' rights to privacy, ensuring confidentiality, and maintaining honesty.

I notified all prospective participants that to participate, they must be over the age of 18 and categorized as a noncitizen or nonresident visitor (see Appendix A). The implied consent and consent forms indicated the measures followed when conducting this research. In the case of a misplaced survey, participants had the opportunity to receive an additional survey in the departure lounge either at ferry terminals or airports.

Participants had the option to withdraw from the study at any time, either by not completing the survey or by not turning the survey into the appropriate entity. To avoid coercion, there were no incentives associated with participating in this study. I choose not to include incentives to ensure participants' decision to participate in the study remained unaltered by financial gain. The storing of data for 5 years on a secure computer was to help protect the rights of participants. The data collected will be password protected and only accessible to me. There is the electronic erasing of the data from the computer, after 5 years. Also, I will keep the completed surveys, and any printed information will be locked away and destroyed by secure shredding after 5 years.

Data Collection Instruments

No existing instrument exists to gather data on all variables for the study. Unobservable variables in the study are psychological constructs, and using an existing instrument is typically most appropriate when measuring such constructs (Barry et al., 2013; Davies, Smith, Windmeijer, & Martin, 2013; Slaney & Racine, 2013). Instead, I created a self-developed survey, with individual survey items to measure the study variables. Although more challenging and labor intensive to develop, there are certain advantages with developing a unique, purpose-specific survey. For example, a selfdeveloped survey ensures the inclusion of the variables and concepts a researcher must measure based on a detailed review of the literature (Bettoni et al., 2014; Buchanan, Siegfried & Jelsma, 2015; Granko, Wolfe, Kelley, Morton, & Delgado, 2014). Opting for a self-developed survey allows a researcher to prepare each question specific to the research questions of the study (Bettoni et al., 2014; Buchanan et al., 2015; Granko et al., 2014). The instrument for the proposed study is a paper survey. Also, a self-developed instrument can systematically address issues of validity and reliability explained under the Data Collection Section. Table 3 includes a summary of the variables in the survey, listed in the order they appeared in the survey instrument.

Table 3

Variable Measurement

	Survey	Level of
Variable	item #	measurement
Demographic (gender)	1	Ordinal
Demographic (purpose of visit)	2	Ordinal
Demographic (islands to be visited)	3	Ordinal
Demographic variable (BVI arrival method)	4	Ordinal
Demographic variable (nationality)	5	Ordinal
Demographic (has been to the BVI before)	6	Ordinal
Demographic (household income)	7	Ordinal
Destination image (predictor variable)	8	Nominal
Push and pull motives to travel (predictor		
variable)	9	Nominal
Tourist satisfaction (criterion variable)	10	Ordinal

Demographic Survey Items

The first section of the survey instrument included demographic questions. The demographic information collected were gender, the purpose of visit, islands visited, BVI arrival method, nationality, prior visit to the BVI, and household income. I measured each demographic variable using a single question at an ordinal level.

Destination Image

The second section of the survey instrument included questions to gather the data on the study's independent and dependent variables (destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourist's satisfaction). I measured the first independent variable, destination image, using a single question at the nominal level of measurement. Assaker and Hallak (2013) and Stylidis, Belhassen, and Shani (2014) studied destination image and measured this variable using a single item because of the various dimensions of destination image. The intent was to use a modified version of the single item Assaker and Hallak used to measure destination image. Assaker and Hallak's single item was, "How would you describe the image that you have of that destination before the experience" (p. 604). Participants provided answers using a 5-point Likert-type scale. The scale ranged from 1 (*not all satisfied*) to 5 (*extremely satisfied*), with high scores indicating exceptional levels of destination image (Assaker & Hallak, 2013). Similar to previous studies, the emphasis was on an overall evaluation of destination image, using the scale above, rather than analyzing the individual components of the destination image construct (Assaker & Hallak, 2013; Prayag et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2014).

Push and Pull Motives to Travel

The second section of the survey instrument also included questions, at the nominal level of measurement, to gather the data on the study's independent construct of push and pull motives to travel. Kim, Oh, and Jogaratnam (2006) and Mohammad and Som (2010) studied push and pull motives to travel and measured the variable using multiple items. The intent was to use a modified version of the instrument that Kim et al. and Mohammad and Som used to measure push and pull motive to travel to fit the needs of the BVI. Push and pull motives of this study consisted of 13 predictor variables: (a)

push knowledge, (b) push sightseeing variety, (c) push adventure, (d) push relax, (e) push lifestyles, (f) push family, (g) pull event and activities, (h) pull sightseeing variety, (i) pull easy access and affordability, (j) pull history and culture, (k) pull variety seeking, (l) pull adventure, and (m) pull natural resources. Participants provided answers using a 5-point Likert-type scale. The scale ranged from 1 (*not at all satisfied*) to 5 (*extremely satisfied*), with high scores indicating exceptional levels of push and pull motives to travel.

Tourist Satisfaction

I measured the dependent variable, tourist satisfaction, as a continuous variable at the ordinal level of measurement. Assaker and Hallak (2013) studied tourist satisfaction and measured this variable using a single item to understand the overall visitor satisfaction with the visitor visit to a destination. Assaker and Hallak's satisfaction scale contained one item intended to measure the overall tourist satisfaction with visitors experience to the BVI. This single item from Assaker and Hallak is, "How would you describe your overall satisfaction with your stay in that destination" (p. 604). Participants provided answers using a 5-point Likert-type scale. The scale ranged from 1 (*not all satisfied*) to 5 (*extremely satisfied*), with high scores indicating exceptional levels of tourist satisfaction and lower scores indicating low levels of tourist satisfaction.

Instrument Reliability and Validity

I conducted a pilot test to assess validity and reliability of the instrument using specific methods described in the following Data Collection Technique section. The study involved measuring each variable using one item based on how researchers have measured the variables in previous studies. Because there was no existing survey instrument available for my study, no published reliability and validity information was available.

Data Collection Technique

I used a paper survey to collect data. Some researchers stated that data collection is often the most costly and time intensive portion of research (Baker et al., 2013; Dunn et al., 2014; Pires et al., 2016). Three advantages for using paper surveys are: (a) allowing participants to complete a survey anywhere, (b) helping in reducing any bias towards the researcher, and (c) paper responses are at a higher rate than web-based surveys (Cahill, Pierce, Werner, Darley, & Bobersky, 2015; Hohwü et al., 2013; McPeake, Bateson, & O'Neill, 2014). The disadvantage of using paper surveys is the high cost of printing not associated with using a web-based survey (Binu & Misbah, 2013; Cahill et al., 2015; Sue & Ritter, 2012).

After distributing the survey to participants, I conducted a field test and a pilot test to assess validity and reliability of the instrument. Researchers use a field test to assess the survey instrument for content validity (Chakraborty, Fry, Behl, & Longfield, 2016; Harshman & Yezierski, 2016; Li, Scott, & Walters, 2014). The field test for this study included four experts in the areas of academics and business practice to assess the survey instrument for content validity. Leggett et al. (2016) suggested the following guidelines for assessing questionnaire validity; the field test involved gathering information to answer three questions:

• Does the instrument look like a survey?

- Is the survey appropriate for the study population?
- Does the survey include all of the questions needed to answer the study research question and achieve the study objectives?

Flesch Reading Ease and Flesch-Kincaid grade level tests are methods used for checking readability (Eltorai et al., 2015; Hartley, 2016; Lenzner, 2013). The results of these tests for the consent form and survey instrument were 49.8 on the Flesch Reading Ease test and 15.6 on the Flesch-Kincaid grade level test, indicating the survey was suitable for the reader/participant. Based on results from the readability tests, no modifications of the survey instrument were necessary.

The experts agreed on the first question that the survey looks like a survey. Second, the experts agreed the survey is appropriate for the study population. Finally, the survey included all the questions to answer the research question. In addition, the field test involved a test for readability of the survey instrument. The subject matter experts agreed the survey questions would measure the variables as presented in Table 4. Four experts in the areas of academics and business practice reviewed the survey and gave feedback. The dialog between the experts provided qualitative feedback to enhance this survey. For instance, underthe demographic section, the question stated, "which island will you be visiting?" Because the visitor completed the survey after their experience, the wording changed to "which islands did you visit?" Other than the changing the tense, they confirmed the questions created in the self-made survey instrument were appropriate for the sample population.

Table 4

	М	SD
Variable	1/1	52
Destination Image	5	0.5
Push Motives to Travel	4.5	0.577
Pull Motives to Travel	4.5	0.577
Tourist satisfaction (criterion variable)	5	0.5
Demographic (gender)	4.5	.0.577
Demographic (purpose of visit)	4	0.5
Demographic (islands to be visited)	4.5	0.577
Demographic variable (BVI arrival		
method)	4	0.5
Demographic variable (nationality)	5	0.5
Demographic (has been to the BVI		
before)	5	0.5
Demographic (household income)	5	0.5

Note. N = 4. Response options ranged from 1 (*strongly agree*) to 5 (*strongly disagree*).

Conducting test–retest procedures of the survey instrument enhanced the internal validity of the instrument based on any difficulties observed to gather evidence of reliability (Mello, Merchant, & Clark, 2013; Rickards, Magee, & Artino Jr, 2012; Van Teijlingen & Hundley, 2002). I administered the survey to a small convenience sample from visiting tourists using the test–retest procedure using 5 days for test–retest interval.

Participants read and signed the consent form prior to completing the survey. A period longer than 5 days may make the factors I measured to change and may alter the scores in the independent variable (tourist satisfaction; Becken & Wilson, 2013; Breiby, 2015; Dubois, Ceron, Gossling, & Hall, 2016).

Conducting test–retest procedures of the survey instrument enhanced the internal validity of the instrument based on any difficulties observed to gather evidence of reliability (Chang & Chang, 2016; Mello et al., 2013; Rickards et al., 2012). Researchers use the Pearson's correlation coefficient and Spearman's rho to measure instrument reliability (Baumester et al., 2016; Harshman & Yezierski, 2016; Karyadi et al., 2014). I calculated the reliability of Questions 8–10, the questions measuring each of the study variables, using Pearson's *r*. The Pearson's correlation coefficient was at least tourist satisfaction and push motives were more than 0.7; hence, the parameters for the two constructs were reliable. Table 5 contains the results of the test–retest procedure for each of the study variables.

Table 5

Variable	Pearson's r Correlation
Destination image	.522
Tourist Satisfaction	1.000
Push Motives	.891
Pull Motives	.203

Test-Retest Results for Study Variables

Note. N = 8

After the completion of the pilot studies, I published and printed the survey for distribution. Individuals identified as noncitizens or nonresident visitors, who are 18 years and older and entering the BVI at any ports of entry received a paper survey from the researcher (see Appendix A). The paper survey included written instructions guiding participants how to complete the survey and where to return upon completion at the end of their visit. In addition, all monitors located at all ports of entry and departure lounges displayed several advertisements informing the visitors about the survey. Because many ports in the BVI are normally open for extended hours, reoccurring advertisements were intended to motivate more visitors to participate in the surveys. In the event of any misplaced surveys, participants had the opportunity to obtain a survey from either ferry terminals or airport departure lounges.

Data Analysis

The research question for this study is: What is the relationship between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction? The hypotheses were as follows:

 H_0 : There is no statistically significant relationship between destination image,

push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction.

 H_{a} : There is a statistically significant relationship between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction.

Statistical Analyses

For statistical data analysis, I used multiple regression. Multiple linear regression is the appropriate method of quantitative data analysis when there is one interval
dependent variable and more than one interval or categorical independent variable (Donneau, Mauer, Lambert, Lesaffre, & Albert, 2015; Mehmood & Ahmed, 2016; Wang, Chiou, & Muller, 2016). The criterion variable in this study was tourist satisfaction, had an ordinal level of measure. The predictor variables in this study were destination image and push and pull motives to travel, which have ordinal measurement levels. Therefore, because this study involved more than two continuous variables, simple regression analysis cannot be used (Bakrania et al., 2015; Luchman, 2014; Rybak, Sternberg, & Pfeiffer, 2013). Multiple regression analysis helps in determining how much the independent variable explained the variation in the dependent variable and the independent variable improved the accuracy in predicting the values of the dependent variable (Gho & Zhang, 2014; Luchman, 2014; Nimon & Owsald, 2013).

Simple linear regression and Analysis Of Variance (ANOVA) are two types of quantitative statistics; however, they do not meet the needs for this study. ANOVA is appropriate with categorical indenpendant varibale and a continuous dependant variable to compare means (Dios et al., 2013; Hesamian, 2015; Pekar & Braver, 2016). Also, in ANOVA, the researchers seek to find the means among groups (Dios et al., 2013; Hesamian, 2015; Thorarensen, Kubiriza, & Imsland, 2015), which is not an objective of this study. With simple linear regression, the goal is to predict the value of a dependent variable based on the value of an independent variable (Ardhakupar, Sridhar, & Atrey, 2014; Brown, 2014; Wang et al., 2016). This study included an examination of the relationship (if any) between two independent variables and a dependent variable; therefore, simple linear regression was irrelevant to this study.

Assumptions

Researchers base multiple regression analysis on certain assumptions. Researchers proposed five assumptions to be tested when using multiple regression analysis: (a) measurement error, (b) normality, (c) linearity, (d) multicollinearity, and (e) homoscedasticity(Dormann et al., 2013; Kim, Sugar, & Belin, 2015; Kock & Lynn, 2012). In the following subsections I will provide a discussion of each assumption of multiple regression.

Measurement error. Conducting multiple regression analysis may include the assumption of no error in the measure of variables (Blackwell, Honaker, & King, 2015;Shear & Zumbo, 2013; Stout, 2013). Cronbach's alpha is a common test for measurement when measuring multiple items (Osborne & Water, 2002; Tonetto & Desmet, 2016; Valim, Marziale, Richart-Martínez, & Sanjuan-Quiles, 2014). Therefore, for the variable push-pull motives to travel, I performed Cronbach's alpha test for measurement of error.

The results of the Cronbach's Alpha test indicated that the push motives (see Tables 6 and 7) subscale consisted of 25 items ($\alpha = .927$). The pull motives were indicated as well (see Tables 8 and 9) subscale had 12 items ($\alpha = .869$). In this case, with push motives having an alpha value of 0.927, which is approaching 1 indicates high reliability and high internal consistency of the underlying 25 items. For pull motives, an alpha value of 0.869 indicates high reliability and high internal consistency of the underlying items. Thus I can conclude that both test items are highly reliable and

consistency. I also note that push motives items are slightly more reliable than pull

motives test items. Therefore, the questionnaire was highly reliable.

Table 6

Reliability Statistics for Push Motives

Cronbach's Alpha N of Items
.927 25

Table 7Item-Total Statistics Push Motives to Travel

	Scale Mean if	Scale	Variance	Corrected	Cronbach's
	Item Deleted	if Item	Deleted	Item-Total	Alpha if Item
				Correlation	Deleted
Push1	95.0162	198.94	3	.501	.925
Push2	94.7490	201.02	6	.539	.925
Push3	94.8340	200.45	6	.507	.925
Push4	94.7530	197.69	9	.640	.924
Push5	95.1619	196.46	1	.535	.925
Push6	95.0729	198.78	3	.483	.925
Push7	95.2186	190.31	8	.682	.922
Push8	95.3036	190.35	9	.665	.923
Push9	95.2267	192.89	1	.602	.924
Push10	94.9150	196.62	3	.568	.924
Push11	94.7449	198.64	6	.571	.924
Push12	94.9190	193.76	6	.651	.923
Push13	94.9838	196.17	0	.543	.925
Push14	94.9352	200.27	2	.367	.927
Push15	94.8057	198.09	2	.493	.925
Push16	94.9231	197.36	4	.484	.926
Push17	94.6356	201.21	6	.489	.926
Push18	94.9028	194.71	4	.631	.923
Push19	95.3887	190.07	6	.648	.923
Push20	95.3441	189.56	8	.633	.923
Push21	95.3077	190.15	7	.601	.924
Push22	95.3887	192.49	1	.495	.926
Push23	95.2227	192.09	2	.581	.924
Push24	95.5506	190.94	0	.576	.924
Push25	95.2794	190.43	8	.634	.923

Reliability Statistics for Pull Motives

Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
.869	12

	Scale Mean if	Scale	Corrected	Cronbach's
	Item Deleted	Variance if	Item-Total	Alpha if Item
		Item Deleted	Correlation	Deleted
Pull1	43.8866	41.711	.544	.859
Pull2	44.2348	42.278	.491	.863
Pull3	43.8623	40.615	.686	.850
Pull4	43.9352	39.671	.685	.849
Pull5	43.9393	39.919	.679	.849
Pull6	43.8016	41.550	.551	.858
Pull7	44.0648	41.654	.546	.859
Pull8	43.8988	41.498	.578	.857
Pull9	43.3725	43.381	.512	.861
Pull10	43.5020	43.023	.543	.859
Pull11	43.2955	45.469	.370	.868
Pull12	43.1336	45.263	.427	.865

Item-Total Statistics Pull Motives to Travel

Normal distribution. I performed a visual inspection and created a histogram of each variable to test the assumption of normal distribution. Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk test determine whether a normal distribution of each variable existed (Abbasi, 2013; Hanusz & Tarasińska, 2015; Rao, Kumar, & Rosaiah, 2015). In the research, the assessment of normality determined the specific statistical tests researchers utilize: parametric or non-parametric (Punzo, Browne, & McNicholas, 2016). The parametric test produces a bell-shaped curve versus a non-parametric (Fernandes, Madeiros, & Veiga, 2014; Punzo et al., 2016; Urbano, 2015). Researchers can use bootstrapping procedures when the data failed to meet the statistical assumption of normality (Hiller, Marshall, & Dunn, 2015; Kang, Harring, & Li, 2014; Saki, 2014).

Linear relationship. Another assumption for multiple regression that determines whether a linear relationship exists between variables (Hirudayaraj & Das, 2016; Li, Wang, & Yang, 2016; Valente, Castellanos, Vanacore, & Formisano, 2013). To test for linearity assumption, I created and inspected a scatter plotter of predicted and residual values for each variable (Li, 2015; Singh, Engel, Jansen, de Haan, & Buydens, 2016; Yan & Zhang, 2015). If linear relationships do not exist, researchers can use bootstrapping procedures to examine any possible influence of assumption violations (Kang, Harring, & Li, 2014; Marill, Chang, Wong, & Friedman, 2015; Saki, 2014).

Homoscedasticity. Homoscedasticity is the assumption that the variance of errors is similar at all levels of an independent variable. Conducting a scatterplot analysis helped to test for assumptions of homoscedasticity (Francq & Govaerts, 2014; Punzo et al., 2016; Urbano, 2015). To test whether a violation of homogeneity exists, I created and visually examined plots of residuals to test for homoscedasticity. The outcome was satisfactory.

Multicollinearity. Multicollinearity existed when a possible predictor-predictor redundancy phenomenon occurred (Amini & Roozbeh, 2016; Chandra & Sarkar, 2015; Kock & Lynn, 2012). Using a normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residual tested for multicollinearity (Amini & Roozbeh, 2016; Aslam, 2014; Chandra & Sarkar, 2015). To test for multicollinearity, I examined the correlation coefficients among the predictor variables.

Violation of assumptions. Violating assumptions can result in errors (Lu & Qiao, 2016; Rice, Traffimow, Graves, & Stauble, 2013; Sedgwick, 2014). There are two

types of errors, which can occur when using inferring statistical significance of the analysis (Akobeng, 2016; Rice et al., 2013; Sedgwick, 2014). Type I error when the researchers reject the true null hypothesis and Type II error results when the researchers do not reject a false null hypothesis (Delorme, Micheaux, Liquet, & Riou, 2016; Li & Mei, 2016; Liu et al., 2015). For example, decreasing the *p*-value, from .05 to .01, reduces the possibility of a Type I error, but also increases the likelihood of a Type II error (Delorme et al., 2016; Li & Mei, 2016; Liu et al., 2016; Li & Mei, 2016; Liu et al., 2015). If the violation of an assumption exists, Punzo et al. (2016) suggested that researchers should use bootstrapping procedures. Therefore, I used the bootstrapping procedure to mitigate any violations of assumptions.

Interpreting Results

Descriptive designs include an examination of the current condition of a situation or circumstance (Correia & Kozak, 2016; Li et al., 2014; Montilla & Kromrey, 2016; Olya & Altinay, 2016). I used descriptive statistics to examine the distribution of data. Some of the measures included the standard deviation, mean, and variance. I used a preestablished probability standard of .05 for the alpha, or *p*-value, which is common in tourist satisfaction (Assaker & Hallak, 2013; Correia & Kozak, 2016; Liu et al., 2015). The related confidence interval for an alpha of .05 is 95%. A medium effect size ($f^2 =$.15) is appropriate based on a review of 29 articles where tourist satisfaction, as measured by destination image or motivation to travel, was the outcome measurement (Correia & Kozak, 2016; Li, Scott, & Walters 2014; Olya & Altinay, 2016).

Software and Data

Common software researchers use to analyze statistical data include Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS), Statista, and Microsoft Excel (Ahman et al., 2013; Ayatollahi, Golestan, Sharifi, Esform, & Shahcheraghi, 2013; Cori et al., 2013). Tourism industry researchers commonly use SPSS. As a result, I used the same. I obtained satisfactory results complying with the rules of procedure.

Before conducting data analysis, researchers visually inspect the survey data for missing, incomplete, or unusual information (Cai & Zhu, 2015; Kim et al., 2015; Zvoch, 2014). The purpose of data clean is to detect errors and remove these errors for quality improvement (Cai & Zhu, 2015; Kim et al., 2015; Zvoch, 2014). Data cleaning is important in statistical analyses (Cai & Zhu, 2015; Kim et al., 2015; Zvoch, 2014). To address missing data, the most popular method used is the deletion of any cases that have missing data (Kim et al., 2015; Punzo et al., 2016; Zvoch, 2014). Because of the use of a paper survey, the likelihood of missing data was minimal.

Study Validity

Study validity is the final consideration of the project. Validity is an important aspect of the study, which involves the integrity of conclusions drawn from the research (Barry et al., 2013; Baumeister et al., 2016; Chakraborti et al., 2016). There are two types of validity: internal validity and external validity (Baumeister et al., 2016; Chakraborti et al., 2016; Pericci & Pereira, 2016).

Internal Validity

Le Borgne et al. (2016) stated some internal validity could occur in instrumentation, statistical regression, selection, and testing. Williams and Aber (2015) stated that internal validity supports the notion that observed covariation correlates to a causal relationship. This study was a correlational study, and therefore, there were no threats to internal validity.

Statistical conclusion validity. The statistical conclusion of validity, there are two types of errors Type I and Type II (Akobeng, 2016; Lu & Qiao, 2016; Sedgwick, 2014). Rejection of a true null hypothesis is Type I error, and non-rejection of a false null hypothesis is when Type II error occurs (Kratochwill & Levin, 2014; Le Borgne et al., 2016; Pericci & Pereira, 2016). Three statistical conclusions of validity are instrument validity, data assumption, and sample size (Burgess & Thompson, 2013; Dialsingh, Austin, & Altman, 2015; Lu & Qiao, 2016).

Reliability of the instrument. Research study reliability mirrors the consistency of the study and instrument; therefore, the researchers should verify the survey instrument for reliability (Barry et al., 2013; Rickards et al., 2012; Trani, Babulal, & Bakhsh, 2015). Reliability increases the trustworthiness of the measurement tool and enabled subsequent researchers to reach similar conclusions in replications (Almeida, Ferreira, & Cavalcante, 2015; Barry et al., 2013; Trani et al., 2015). To ensure the reliability of the proposed study, I computed Cronbach's alpha using the variable push and pull motives to travel. Cronbach's alpha is relevant when multiple items exist within the scale to compare the coefficient of the sample to that of the instrument (Baral, 2015; Osborne & Water, 2002; Tonetto & Desmet, 2016). Cronbach's alpha provided a means

for testing the reliability of a survey instrument (Yunus, 2010).Scholars, such as Kim et al. (2006) and Mohammad and Som (2010), used Cronbach's alpha to test the reliability of instruments they used to measure the same variables as used in this study.

Data assumption. The five assumptions identified in the Data Analysis section are a normal distribution of variables, a linear relationship between the dependent variables, homoscedasticity, and lack of collinearity among the independent variables, and measurement error (Behr, 2015; Kim et al., 2015; Osborne & Water, 2002). Therefore, a violation of assumptions can result in errors, resulting in the use of a nonparametric procedure, such as discriminant analysis to analyze the data (Benner, Gugercin, & Willcox, 2015; Behr, 2015; Saart, Gao, & Kim, 2013). Bootstrapping procedures address violations of assumptions (Benito, Solana, & Lopez, 2014). Again, I used bootstrapping to address violations of assumptions.

Sample size. Kouvelioti and Vagenas (2015) stated that statistical validity depends on the sample size. Using an insufficient sample size for this study may result in an incorrect inference about the study. For this study, I conducted a G*Power 3.1.9.2 analysis to calculate a sufficient sample size. A priori power analysis indicates a minimum sample size of 135,assuming a medium effect size (f = .15), with a = .05 to achieve a power of .80 while the power of .99 requires a sample size of 236. Therefore, a sample size of between 135 and 236 participants was appropriate for the study.

External Validity

External validity is the ability of generalization to the larger population (Raina, 2015). Externalvalidity refers to an instrument's ability to measure attributes of the

study's constructs (Walls et al., 2011). Threats to external validity represent factors that reduce the ability to generalize the study results to a larger population of study (Khorsan & Crawford, 2014; Oo, 2016; Raina, 2015). Therefore, using nonprobability sampling may limit the ability to generalize the results of the study to other population.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 began with the role of the researcher and the participants, who are visitors to the BVI. The research method and design I selected for this study were a quantitative correlational study using a paper survey to collect data through convenience sampling. I concluded Section 2 with a discussion on data analysis process using multiple linear regression and methods used to test the study's validity.

Section 3 will include a presentation of the findings, a discussion regarding the applicability of professional practice, information on the implications for social change, recommendations for action and further research, reflections, and the conclusion of the study. This will form a consolidated part of the paper. This section will aim to provide a comprehensive outlook on what will done and what should be done.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of the quantitative correlational study was to examine if a relationship exists between destination images, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction. The first predictor variable was destination image. Push and pull motives, another predictor variable, consisted of 13 predictor variables: (a) push knowledge, (b) push sightseeing variety, (c) push adventure, (d) push relax, (e) push lifestyles, (f) push family, (g) pull event and activities, (h) pull sightseeing variety, (i) pull easy access and affordability, (j) pull history and culture, (k) pull variety seeking, (l) pull adventure, and (m) pull natural resources. The criterion variable was tourist satisfaction. The population was comprised of departing tourists in the British Virgin Islands (BVI) from the period of March 2017 to April 2017. The implications for this study of positive social change include contributing to the economic enhancement of the BVI, which may help to generate employment and entrepreneurship opportunities for residents and sustainability benefiting the local community. The results indicated that there was a statistically significant relationship between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction, so I had to reject the null hypothesis.

Presentation of the Findings

I used standard multiple linear regression analysis to determine if a relationship existed between the independent variables of destination image and push and pull motives to travel and the dependent variable of tourists' satisfaction. I will begin my discussion of the findings with descriptive statistics, assumptions, inferential statistics, and the theoretical framework. I employed bootstrapping with 247 samples to mitigate the potential effect of any violation of assumptions. Presentations include bootstrapping of 95% confidence intervals where applicable.

Descriptive Statistics

I received a total of 257 survey responses, which resulted in 247 completed surveys for my analysis. A descriptive analysis of the data showed 247 visitors surveyed with more female tourists, 146, compared to 101 male tourists (see Tables 10–12). Tortola received most of the visitors (59.5%), while Anegada had the least number of visitors (4.0%). Virgin Gorda had the second largest number of tourists (19.0%), while Jost Van Dyke received 7.7% of the second least of the total tourists surveyed. The remaining 9.7% of the visitors toured other parts of BVI. Arrival at the ports of entry was mainly via ferry (68.8%), while arrival via air was the second largest means (23.9%). A small percentage (6.5%) of the tourists arrived via private charter. Private air and cruise ship arrivals each constituted 0.4% of all arrival means. Return visitors formed a 62.3% of the total tourists surveyed, with the remaining 37.7% as first-time visitors (see Table 10).

Imost half of the tourists (49.4%) were very satisfied with the destination image, while those extremely satisfied with the destination image were equally as many (40.9%). A small percentage of 1.2% was slightly satisfied with the destination image. While 8.5% of the tourists were not sure about their satisfaction with destination image,a considerably high percentage (61.5%) of the tourists were extremely satisfied, while 36.8% of the tourists were very satisfied. Only very small percentages (0.4%) of the visitors were slightly satisfied. Those unsure about their satisfaction also formed a small percentage of 1.2% (see Table 10).

Table 10

Frequencies for Quantitative Study Variable

Variable (survey response)	Frequency	Percent
Gender		
Male	101	40.9
Female	146	59.1
Purpose of the visit		
Vacation	228	92.3
Business	10	4.0
Seeking Work	1	.4
Other	8	3.2
Island visited		
Tortola	147	59.5
Virgin Gorda	47	19.0
Anegada	10	4.0
Jost Van Dkye	19	7.7
Other	24	9.7
Transportation		
Air	59	23.9
Private Air	1	.4
Cruise Ship	1	.4
Ferry	170	68.8
Private Charter	16	6.5
Nationality		
America	26	10.5
American	169	68.4
Antiguan	1	.4
Argentinian	2	.8
British	5	2.0
Canada	2	.8
Canadian	28	11.3
Chinese	1	.4 (table continues)

Variable (survey response)	Frequency	Percent
Dominican	1	.4
German	1	.4
Irish	1	.4
Italy	1	.4
Kittitian	1	.4
New Zealand	2	.8
Nicaragua	1	.4
Swedish	4	1.6
UK	1	.4
Visited before		
Yes	154	62.3
No	93	37.7
Income		
Less than \$20,000	10	4.0
\$20,000-\$39.999	10	4.0
\$40,000-\$59,000	34	13.8
\$60,000-\$79,999	27	10.9
\$80,000-\$99.999	40	16.2
\$100,000-\$149,999	32	13.0
\$150,000-\$199,999	28	11.3
Above \$200,000	66	26.7
Destination image		
Slightly satisfied	3	1.2
Unsure	21	8.5
Very satisfied	122	49.4
Extremely satisfied	101	40.9
Tourist satisfaction		
Slightly satisfied	1	.4
Unsure	3	1.2
Very satisfied	91	36.8
Extremely satisfied	152	61.5

Note.N= 247. Noncitizens or nonresidents entering the BVI for leisure and not for business

	Minimum	Maximum	М	SD
Push1	1.00	5.00	4.0081	.81646
Push2	2.00	5.00	4.2753	.63528
Push3	1.00	5.00	4.1903	.71014
Push4	1.00	5.00	4.2713	.71802
Push5	1.00	5.00	3.8623	.92244
Push6	1.00	5.00	3.9514	.85401
Push7	1.00	5.00	3.8057	1.04895
Push8	1.00	5.00	3.7206	1.07015
Push9	1.00	5.00	3.7976	1.02782
Push10	1.00	5.00	4.1093	.86497
Push11	1.00	5.00	4.2794	.74278
Push12	1.00	5.00	4.1053	.91346
Push13	1.00	5.00	4.0405	.92744
Push14	1.00	5.00	4.0891	.95857
Push15	1.00	5.00	4.2186	.88390
Push16	1.00	5.00	4.1012	.94669
Push17	2.00	5.00	4.3887	.68280
Push18	1.00	5.00	4.1215	.88886
Push19	1.00	5.00	3.6356	1.11020
Push20	1.00	5.00	3.6802	1.16125
Push21	1.00	5.00	3.7166	1.18281
Push22	1.00	5.00	3.6356	1.24484
Push23	1.00	5.00	3.8016	1.10667
Push24	1.00	5.00	3.4737	1.18180
Push25	1.00	5.00	3.7449	1.11335

Descriptive Statistics Push Motives to Travel

	Minimum	Maximum		SD
Pull1	1.00	5.00	3.8340	.98401
Pull2	1.00	5.00	3.4858	.99122
Pull3	1.00	5.00	3.8583	.92841
Pull4	1.00	5.00	3.7854	1.02732
Pull5	1.00	5.00	3.7814	1.00849
Pull6	1.00	5.00	3.9190	.99262
Pull7	1.00	5.00	3.6559	.98721
Pull8	1.00	5.00	3.8219	.96306
Pull9	2.00	5.00	4.3482	.82160
Pull10	1.00	5.00	4.2186	.82687
Pull11	2.00	5.00	4.4251	.72236
Pull12	2.00	5.00	4.5870	.67438

Table 12Descriptive Statistics for Pull Motive to Travel

Assumptions Tests

To test assumptions related to multicollinearity, I reviewed the statistics provided for each variable in the study model in the correlation table, after conducting standardlinear regression analysis in SPSS. A sample size of 247 was sufficient to realize a power above 0.99. The Shapiro-Wilk testof normality indicated that the data significantly deviated from a normal distribution; destination image and tourism satisfaction had a p < .001 each, while push motives and pull motives Shapiro-Wilk test was significant at p = 0.003 and 0.002 respectively (see Table 13).

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov ^a			Shapiro-Wilk			
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.	
Destination image	.263	247	.000	.774	247	.000	
Tourist satisfaction	.389	247	.000	.653	247	.000	
Push motives	.061	247	.025	.982	247	.003	
Pull motives	.075	247	.002	.980	247	.002	

Tests of Normality

^{a.} Lilliefors Significance Correction

The histogram (see Figure 2) showed a distribution of data not normal as some data were skewed to the far left, while some data points were exceptionally higher in frequency than the rest. The normal probability plot (P-P) also indicated that the data were not linear as the data points strayed from the diagonal line in a non–linear manner (see Figure 3). The scatter plot of residual versus predicted values also showed a lack of linearity in the data as there were outliers and most data points were on the negative side of the regression line (see Figure 4). The Durbin-Watson statistic is always between 0 and 4 (Field, 2013). A value of 2 means no autocorrelation exists in the sample(Field, 2013). Because the Durbin-Watson value was 1.864, which is clearly above 1.4 and within the acceptable range; therefore, no autocorrelation exists (see Table 14).



Figure 2. Histogram of the criterion variable: Tourist satisfaction.



Figure 3. Normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residual.



Figure 4. Scatterplot of the standardized residual.

Bootstrap for Model Summary

			Bootstrap ^a					
				95% Confidence Interval				
Model	Durbin-Watson	Bias	Std. Error	Lower	Upper			
1	1.864	666	.125	.960	1.414			

^a. Unless otherwise noted, bootstrap results are based on 247 bootstrap samples

Variance inflation factor (VIF) scores can assess potential issues with multicollinearity (Field, 2013). VIF scores greater than 10 indicate an issue with multicollinearity (Field, 2013). Some corrective options for multicollinearity issues are to: (a) leave the model unchanged, (b) increase the sample size, (c) remove contributing variables, (d) create an index of variables, (e) change the model, and/or (f) bootstrap the sample data (Field, 2013). The VIF values of the independent variables were between 1 and 10 (i.e., 1.113), while the tolerance values were above 0.2, (i.e., 0.899). Therefore, the study data did not violate the assumption of multicollinearity (see Table 19). Moreover, both condition indices were below a value of 30 (14.09 and 18.225 for destination image and push and pull motives respectively), meaning the data were less likely collinear (see Table 15).

Collinearity Diagnostics

				Variance Proportions			
		Eigenvalu	Condition	(Consta		Push and Pull	
Model	Dimension	e	Index	nt)	NewDestImage	motives	
1	1	2.976	1.000	.00	.00	.00	
	2	.015	14.098	.04	.90	.36	
	3	.009	18.225	.95	.10	.63	

^{a.} Dependent Variable: NewTouristSat

Table 16

Model Summary

				Std.		Change	Statis	stics			
			Adjusted	Error of	R						
		R	R	the	Square	F			Sig.	F	Durbin-
Model	R	Square	Square	Estimate	Change	Change	df1	df2	Chang	ge	Watson
1	.407 ^a	.166	.159	.49449	.166	24.233	2	244	.000		1.864

^{a.} Predictors: (Constant), NewDestImage, Push and Pull motives

^{b.} Dependent Variable: NewTouristSat

Table 17

Bootstrap for Model Summary for Push and Pull Motives

		Bootstrap ^a							
			Std.	Sig. (2-	95% Conf	idence Interval			
Model	В	Bias	Error	tailed)	Lower	Upper			
(Constant)	2.746	014	.297	.004	2.100	3.254			
Push and Pull motives	.190	.002	.049	.004	.097	.289			
NewDestImage	.168	001	.053	.004	.049	.269			

^{a.} Unless otherwise noted, bootstrap results are based on 247 bootstrap samples

	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients			Collinearity Statistics	
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta	t Sig.		ToleranceVIF	
(Constant)	2.746	.268		10.263	.000		
Push and Pull motives	⁸ .190	.041	.289	4.678	.000	.899	1.113
NewDestImage	.168	.049	.210	3.399	.001	.899	1.113
Note. Dependent Variable: NewTouristSat							

Bootstrap for Coefficients

Inferential Statistics

Following the violation of the linearity and normality assumptions, I employed bootstrapping for 247 samples at a 95% confidence interval to see whether there were possible influences of the violation of assumption. I used standard multiple linear regression to determine whether a relationship existed between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and BVI tourists' satisfaction. The hypotheses were:

 H_0 : There is no statistically significant relationship between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction.

 $H_{\rm a}$: There is a statistically significant relationship between destination image,

push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction.

As shown in Table 16, the results of the regression indicated that the two predictors, destination image and push and pull motives to travel, explained 16.6% of the variance in tourist satisfaction (R^2 = .166, F(2,244)= 24.233, p<.001). Also, in Table 14, destination image significantly predicted tourist satisfaction (β =.168, p=.001), as did push and pull motives (β = .190, p<.001) as depicted in Table 17. The bootstraps for push and pull motives and new destination image was still significant (p=.004), meaning that the two independent variables were statistically significant predictors of tourist satisfaction. Therefore, I rejected the null hypothesis as there was a statistically significant relationship between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and BVI tourists' satisfaction.

Push Motives of Motivation to Travel

Push motives to travel alone, according to Table 19, explained 22.0% of variance in tourist satisfaction, (R^2 = .220, F(6,240)= 11.302, p<.001). Table 20 shows that only knowledge and relax significantly predicted tourist satisfaction (β =.165, p=.041) and (β =.355, p<.001) respectively. The relax motive had a significantly higher predictive power than knowledge in explaining the variance in tourist satisfaction as the beta value was higher and the p-value was smaller than that of knowledge in the push motives to travel category.

Table 19

Push Motives to Travel Variance to Tourist Satisfaction

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error o		of	the
				Estimate			
1	.469 ^a	.220	.201	.4820	01		

^{a.} Predictors: (Constant), Family, Knowledge, Relax, Adventure, Sightseeing, Lifestyles

Model	Unstandardiz	ed	Standardized	Т	Sig.
	Coefficients		Coefficients		
	В	Std. Error	Beta		
(Constant)	2.707	.253		10.705	.000
Knowledge	.147	.072	.165	2.052	.041
Sight seeing	.034	.056	.051	.605	.546
Adventure	.117	.063	.149	1.867	.063
Relax	.280	.053	.355	5.282	.000
Lifestyles	098	.053	159	-1.843	.067
Family	038	.044	067	865	.388
Lifestyles Family	098 038	.053 .053 .044	159 067	-1.843 865	.067 .388

Pull Motives Predicted Tourist Satisfaction (Coefficients^{a)}

^{a.} Dependent Variable: NewTouristSat

Pull Motives of Motivation to Travel

The pull motives, as demonstrated in Table 21, explained 23.9% of the variance in tourist satisfaction, (R^2 = .239, F(7,239)= 10.748, p<.001). Table 22 shows that only variety seeking and natural resources significantly predicted tourist satisfaction β =.200, p=.005) and (β =.294, p<.001) respectively. The larger beta value and a smaller p-value for the category natural resources compared to the category variety seeking indicating that natural resources had a higher predictive power in explaining the variance in tourist satisfaction.

Pull Motive to Travel Variance to Tourist Satisfaction

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate		
1	.489 ^a	.239	.217	.47706		
& Dradiotomy (Constant) Natural resources Fasy Access and						

^{a.} Predictors: (Constant), Natural resources, Easy Access and affordable, Event and activities, Variety seeking, History and culture, Adventure, Sightseeing Variety

Table 22

Pull Motives Predicted Tourist Satisfaction (Coefficients^a)

Model	Unstandardized		Standardized	Т	Sig.
	Coefficients		Coefficients	_	
	В	Std. Error	Beta		
(Constant)	2.615	.249		10.515	.000
Event and activities	034	.044	054	772	.441
Sightseeing Variety	.003	.052	.005	.062	.951
Easy Access and affordable	.053	.042	.088	1.279	.202
History and culture	.036	.057	.049	.632	.528
Variety seeking	.130	.046	.200	2.841	.005
Adventure	.026	.059	.035	.438	.662
Natural resources	.235	.064	.294	3.700	.000

Application of the findings to the theoretical framework. The present research showed the significant relationship between the tourist's satisfactions, destination images, and push and pull motives to travel. Oliver's (1980) expectancy disconfirmation theory best predicts the customer's satisfaction based on the experience of tourists. According to this theory, individuals act in a particular way because the expectation that a certain outcome follows the act. The findings of the present research are similar to the theory that

states that the variety seeking and natural resources have the significant relationship with the tourist's satisfaction.

The expectancy-disconfirmation theory gauges and disconfirms visitors' perceptions of their intended stay because of their previous knowledge. The findings suggest that the knowledge and relax situation enhances the satisfaction level of the tourists. The theory focuses on the visitor's satisfaction in a destination as an emotional response to his or her experience and the findings of present research also shows that the destination images, and push and pull motives are the initial predictors of the tourist satisfaction. The theory states that if the tourist judges their tour positive then their destination issignificantly satisfied and positive, similar to this, the present research showed that the destination images enhances the tourist's satisfaction through clarifying the destiny.Oliver's (1980) theory states that the people are either satisfied or dissatisfied because of a positive or negative difference between expectation and perception. Similarly, the present research shows that the tourist satisfaction varies, depending on the visitor's push and pulls motives to travel and their pre-preconceive notion of the destination image.

Applications to Professional Practice

The professional practice from the findings from tourists who visited the BVI requires the extension of knowledge and skills in an environment, whereby the findings can be very relevant in the improvement of business practice especially in areas, which the statistics indicated as weak areas (Wong, 2015). From the analysis, because a high number of women visited the BVI in comparison to the number of men, this result

indicated a high potential for sales of women-related products within the region. The hotel and restaurant industry would also do well since most of the tourists visit the BVI for vacation purposes. The analysis indicates that Tortola had the highest number of tourists, which is an indication that this island has a boundless business potential and is an indicator that Anegada and Jost Van Dyke must improve their image to raise their level satisfaction to visitors for more tourists to visit the areas.

From the analysis, most of the arrivals to the islands are by ferry, which in the professional practice of business is an indicator that locating businesses around this entry route can have more market share that in setting the business in the airports. Understanding Americans' culture to know their tastes and preferences of goods and services would also make a business to thrive more since they are the most visitors. Considering the various cultures that visit the BVI may be helpful in decision-making processes to implement strategiesor policies to improve the destination sustainability.

Because the analysis also indicated that most of the tourists were return visitors, this result implies that improving the destination image and the level of satisfaction of the visitors would be important in ensuring the return of visitors, which would be important in every professional practice of business. Becausemost of the visitors earn as high as \$200,000, this finding is an indicator of the spending power of most tourists for which professional business practices is an opportunity for the market to sell at the prevailing price with little or no effect on the demand (see Table 10).

Implications for Social Change

Tourism plays a huge role in influencing social transformation in host communities regarding alternation in behavior patterns and cultural activity (Yeoman et al., 2015).Part of the decisionmaking for tourism management is to consider the perception of the receiving community to ensure tourism development remainssustainable (Guliani & Rizwan, 2016).The implications for social change are both positive and negative (Guliani & Rizwan, 2016). Some of the negative implications, such as increased sexually transmitted disease, insecurity, and poor sanitation result from illegal prostitution, increasing crimes, crowding, social conflict, drug abuse, and trafficking (Guliani & Rizwan, 2016). The positive implicationssocial observed through the improvement of leisure recreation, support, and acceptance of cultural activities, fostering faith and community attachment, and increased education of the people (Mason, 2015).

Residents of the destination get together and share their faith and community commitmentsthrough serving the guests(Ruiz-Ballesteros, & Brondizio, 2013). This connectivity,becauseof tourism, encouraged global human value and facilitated the conservation of culture and art (Ray, Das, Chaudhuri, & Ghosh, 2015). Increased cultural acceptance and support enhanced awareness through interaction, as well as encouraging respect for local traditions(Ray et al., 2015). The richness of the host destination should be maintained through preservation of the local traditions to ensure sustainable development of tourism (Mason, 2015). Tourism development led to the generation of employment through different sectors including hotels, transport, and boating services(Ridderstaat et al., 2014). Education of the people led to the general respect of culture by the guest, encouraging investment towards a growing economy of the destination through infrastructure improvement and provision of service to the community (Yeoman, 2015).

In conclusion, improving infrastructure and tourism facilities in a destination promotespositive social transformation that contributes from the tourism industry. Change is inevitable regarding sustaining tourism development because tourism itself is a change factor (Mason, 2015). Individual, community, organization, culture, and society level has appreciated social change (Ray et al., 2015). The positive implications include an appreciation of cultural values, economic growth, education, community attachment, and awareness of local traditions in the destination.

Recommendations for Action

The research for this study indicated that the destination image is vital to customer satisfaction. Business managers needto understand that tourism is a business like any other and the customers pay for the product shown. Encouraging tourism companies to continue to market an accurate image of the destination, maycontributeto the overall satisfaction in the destination. Marketing destination image through social media drives andprint media advertisements promotes people to visit such destination.

Another argument is to enlist the help of the residents of BVI to make their area more marketable. Truly, those indigenous to that area will know all the various sights and attractions and how to make the areas more appealing while remaining culturally accurate (Del Chiappa, Atzeni, & Ghasemi, 2016). Tourism officials and managerscan assisttourism companies in marketing their product and services. A specific focus group must be sought to ascertain the needs of the tourists and to address those needs by employing natives of that area.

Tourism officials and managersof BVI must make sure that the cultural integrity of their area remains intact through constant checking of resorts and any other activities that the tourism companies might wish to promote. Officials and managersmust ensure the preservation of this consistent image and vision to the tourist the BVI. Because tourists associate a certain brand image to a particular tourist spot and if that image is not in line with their experience, satisfaction will be reduced (Chen& Phou, 2013).The final result should neither be too modern or too primitive but just right (see Table 14).

For the promotion of the refined destination image, tourism officials and managers need a sound dissemination plan. To achieve this goal, seminars can be held in various parts of the area to encourage participation of the residents for the promotion of tourism. An action committee can be formed to ascertain the needs and to decide how the tourism can be improved to increase visitor satisfaction. Collaboration with stakeholders and the tourism leaders in creating an action will improve the destination image (Dupeyras& MacCallum, 2013).

Tourism leaders use various resources to promote a proper destination image. A solid social media campaign is an idea to propagate the idea of BVI being an ideal tourist's destination. Also, prime time slots can be booked on different channels, especially during holidays, such as Christmas to ensure that people know that the BVI is a viable vacation resort destination. Also, print media allows for unlimited exposure and is

a great boost to spread awareness (Neuhofer,Buhalis, & Ladkin, 2014). Pictures of tourist attractions of BVI and scenes that capture the essence of the experience must be used(Neuhofer et al., 2014).

Recommendations for Further Research

According to Ritchie et al. (2013), many authors have done enough research on workplaces to show limited diversity, despite the high growth rate on major firms. Therefore, it is better for the measurement of effectiveness and impact of research on the performance of organizations by application of diversity initiatives used to identify weaknesses and strengths of a firm. Also, research mainly has developed measures for determining reliable and valid data that can be used to create benchmarks that organizations can employ for measuring the success of quality improvement programs (Warach, Luby, & Albers, 2016). These researchers in the field of organizational behavior and management practice contend that problems associated with unreliable, invalid, and address unrelated data through the outcomes of consumer behavior.

The first limitation associated with the inability of researchers to use a quantitative correlational study to determine the cause and effect. The researcher can perform a comparative analysis to compare how the dependent variable differs based on one or more of the independent variables. Ritchie et al. (2013) suggested that this approach would enable researcher's methods of enabling great performance of firms, such as the motivation to travel and destination image to determine how firms influence tourist satisfaction and other performance variables. Although the disadvantages exist to using this approach, the potential to produce results that depend on the reliable and valid

data taken into use. One of the ways to achieve this objective is to use variables related to business makes quantitative correlation more appropriate than others.

Warach et al. (2016) argued that regarding the second limitation of this study related to the inability of a sample population representative of the overall characteristics of BVI. Future researchers can extend data collection tools to include attributes of the general population and sample size to include participants from the target destinations that tourists have growth and volume, to align with answering the problem statement of this study.

Reflections

The doctoral study process was simultaneously rewarding and challenging. The knowledge and skills gained from this process constitute the rewarding aspect of this journey. The challenging aspect of the process involved the attempt to gain an understanding of and explain the importance of tourist satisfaction in the BVI in the societies and business practices that remain evolving and changing.

The experience gained throughout this process creates a better position from which to conduct further investigations on the topic of tourist satisfaction in the future. As highlighted in the recommendations, other studies may build on the findings from this doctoral study data. I hope to continue further research in this area by pursuing postdoctorate research.

Summary and Study Conclusions

Over 1 billion tourists travel internationally annually, despite the turbulent events of the world, which decreased the number of travelers since 2011. The study, in its form

of quantitative correlation research, served the purpose of determining whether there is a relationship between the variables of tourists' satisfaction, push and pull motives to travel and the image of the destination. In these three variables, the first predictor variable is the destination image. In addition to this, tourist satisfaction forms the criterion variable. The central research question was: What is the relationship between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction?

I used standard multiple linear regression analysis to determine if a relationship existed between the independent variables of destination image and push and pull motives to travel, and the dependent variables tourists' satisfaction. Based on the study results, destination image and pull push motives to travel has a positive and significant relationship to tourist satisfaction. The results of the study show that improving push and pull motives to travel, destination image may help tourism officials and managers improve the destination attributes, while increasing the number of tourists that visit the BVI. Tourist satisfaction impacts the social, economic, and environmental factors of the destination while addressing the needs of the visitor.

References

- Abbasi, N. (2013). Shapiro-Wilk test in evaluation of asymptotic distribution on estimators of measure of kurtosis and skew. *International Mathematical Forum*, 8, 573-576. doi:10.12988/imf.2013.13058
- Adiele, E. E., & Abraham, N. (2013). Achievement of Abraham Maslow's needs hierarchy theory among teachers: Implications for human resource management in the secondary school system in Rivers State. *Journal of Curriculum and Teaching*, 2(1), 140-144. doi:10.5430/jct.v2n1p140
- Agapito, D., Oom do Valle, P., & da Costa Mendes, J. (2013). The cognitive-affective-conative model of destination image: A confirmatory analysis. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, *30*, 471-481. doi:10.1080/10548408.2013.803393
- Agyemang, C. B., Nyanyofio, J. G., & Gyamfi, G. D. (2014). Job stress, sector of work, and shift-work pattern as correlates of worker health and safety: A study of a manufacturing company in Ghana. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9(7), 59–69. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n7p59
- Akobeng, A. (2016). Understanding Type I and Type II errors, statistical power and sample size. *Acta Paediatrica*, *105*(6), 605-609. doi:10.1111/apa.13384
- Alameda-Pineda, X., Staiano, J., Subramanian, R., Batrinca, L., Ricci, E., Lepri, B., . . . Sebe, N. (2016). SALSA: A novel dataset for multimodal group behavior analysis. *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence IEEE*, 38(8), 1707-1720. doi:10.1109/tpami.2015.2496269

- Ali, F., Dey, B. L., & Filieri, R. (2015). An assessment of service quality and resulting customer satisfaction in Pakistan International Airlines. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 32, 486–502. doi:10.1108/ijqrm-07-2013-0110
- Al-Jarrah, O. Y., Yoo, P. D., Muhaidat, S., Karagiannidis, G. K., & Taha, K. (2015).
 Efficient machine learning for big data: A review. *Big Data Research*, 2(3), 87–93. doi:10.1016/j.bdr.2015.04.001
- Almeida, A. M. M., Correia, A., & Pimpão, A. (2014). Segmentation by benefits sought: The case of rural tourism in Madeira. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 17, 813-831. doi:10.1080/13683500.2013.768605
- Almeida, A. T., Ferreira, R. J., & Cavalcante, C. A. (2015). A review of the use of multicriteria and multi-objective models in maintenance and reliability. *IMA Journal of Management Mathematics*, 26(3), 249-271.

doi:10.1093/imaman/dpv010

- Altunel, M. C., & Erkut, B. (2015). Cultural tourism in Istanbul: The mediation effect of tourist experience and satisfaction on the relationship between involvement and recommendation intention. *Journal of Destination Marketing & Management*, 4, 213-221. doi:10.1016/j.jdmm.2015.06.003
- Amini, M., & Roozbeh, M. (2016). Least trimmed squares ridge estimation in partially linear regression models. *Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation*, 86(14), 2766–2780. doi:10.1080/00949655.2015.1128433

- Aoyagi, Y., Beck, C. R., Dingwall, R., & Nguyen-Van-Tam, J. S. (2015). Healthcare workers' willingness to work during an influenza pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses*, 9, 120-130. doi:10.1111/irv.12310
- Araslı, H., & Baradarani, S. (2014). European tourist perspective on destination satisfaction in Jordan's industries. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 109, 1416-1425. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.12.645
- Arseneau, E., & Balion, C. M. (2016). Statistical methods used in the calculation of geriatric reference intervals: A systematic review. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 54, 377-388. doi:10.1515/cclm-2015-0420
- Asendorpf, J. B., Conner, M., De Fruyt, F., De Houwer, J., Denissen, J. J., Fiedler, K., &
 Perugini, M. (2013). Recommendations for increasing replicability in psychology.
 European Journal of Personality, 27(2), 108-119. doi:10.1002/per.1919
- Assaker, G., & Hallak, R. (2013). Moderating effects of tourists' novelty-seeking tendencies on destination image, visitor satisfaction, and short-and long-term revisit intentions. *Journal of Travel Research*, 52(5), 600-613. doi:10.1177/0047287513478497

Aslam, M. (2014). Using heteroscedasticity-consistent standard errors for the linear regression model with correlated regressors. *Communications in Statistics - Simulation and Computation*, 43(10), 2353-2373.
 doi:10.1080/03610918.2012.750354
- Atchley, T. W., Wingenbach, G., & Akers, C. (2013). Comparison of course completion and student performance through online and traditional courses. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 14(4), 105-116. Retrieved from http://www.irrodl.org
- Ayatollahi, J., Golestan, M., Sharifi, M. R., Esform, E., & Shahcheraghi, S. H. (2013).
 Investigation of the relationship between demographic characteristics and
 frequency of mortality in certain cases of influenza a (H1N1) from Yazd province
 (Iran). *Journal of Microbiology*, 6(10), e7472. doi:10.5812/jjm.7472
- Azzalini, A., & Menardi, G. (2016). Density-based clustering with non-continuous data. *Computational Statistics*, *31*(2), 771–798. doi:10.1007/s00180-016-0644-8
- Baker, R., Brick, J. M., Bates, N. A., Battaglia, M., Couper, M. P., Dever, J. A.,...
 Tourangeau, R. (2013). Summary report of the AAPOR task force on non-probability sampling. *Journal of Survey Statistics and Methodology*, 1(2), 90-143.
 doi:10.1093/jssam/smt008
- Bakrania, K., Edwardson, C. L., Bodicoat, D. H., Esliger, D. W., Gill, J. M., Kazi, A., . . .
 Yates, T. (2015). Associations of mutually exclusive categories of physical activity and sedentary time with markers of cardiometabolic health in English adults: A cross-sectional analysis of the Health Survey for England. *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1), 25. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-2694-9
- Baral, N. (2015). Assessing the temporal stability of the ecotourism evaluation scale:Testing the role and value of replication studies as a reliable management tool.

Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 23, 280-293.

doi:10.1080/09669582.2014.953541

- Barr, D. J., Levy, R., Scheepers, C., & Tily, H. J. (2013). Random effects structure for confirmatory hypothesis testing: Keep it maximal. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 68(3), 255-278. doi:10.1016/j.jml.2012.11.001
- Barry, A. E., Chaney, B., Piazza-Gardner, A. K., & Chavarria, E. A. (2013). Validity and reliability reporting practices in the field of health education and behavior: A review of seven journals. *Health Education & Behavior, 41*, 12-18. doi:10.1177/1090198113483139
- Batista, M. D. G. C., Couto, J. P. A., Botelho, D. R., & Faias, C. (2014). Tourist satisfaction and loyalty in the hotel business: An application to the island of São Miguel, Azores. *Tourism & Management Studies*, *10*(1), 16-23. Retrieved from http://tmstudies.net/index.php/ectms
- Battour, M., Ismail, M. N., Battor, M., & Awais, M. (2014). Islamic tourism: An empirical examination of travel motivation and satisfaction in Malaysia. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 1-18. doi:10.1080/13683500.2014.965665
- Baumeister, S. E., Ricci, C., Kohler, S., Fischer, B., Töpfer, C., Finger, J. D., &
 Leitzmann, M. F. (2016). Physical activity surveillance in the European Union:
 Reliability and validity of the European Health Interview Survey-Physical
 Activity Questionnaire (EHIS-PAQ). *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *13*(1), 61. doi:10.1186/s12966-016-0386-6

- Bazneshin, S. D., Hosseini, S. B., & Azeri, A. R. K. (2015). The physical variables of tourist areas to increase the tourists' satisfaction regarding the sustainable tourism criteria: Case study of Rudsar Villages, Sefidab in Rahim Abad. *Procedia-Social* and Behavioral Sciences, 201, 128-135. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.08.141
- Becken, S., & Wilson, J. (2013). The impacts of weather on tourist travel. *Tourism Geographies*, *15*(4), 620-639. doi:10.1080/14616688.2012.762541
- Begum, H., Er, A. C., Alam, A. F., & Sahazali, N. (2014). Tourist's perceptions towards the role of stakeholders in sustainable tourism. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 144, 313-321. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.07.301
- Behr, A. (2015). Stochastic data envelopment analysis. *Production and Efficiency Analysis with R*, 161-182. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-20502-1_7
- Belanche, D., Casaló, L. V., & Guinalíu, M. (2012). Website usability, consumer satisfaction and the intention to use a website: The moderating effect of perceived risk. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, *19*, 124-132. doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2011.11.001
- Benito, B., Solana, J., & López, P. (2014). Determinants of Spanish regions' tourism performance: A two-stage, double-bootstrap data envelopment analysis. *Tourism Economics*, 20, 987-1012. doi:10.5367/te.2013.0327
- Benner, P., Gugercin, S., & Willcox, K. (2015). A survey of projection-based model reduction methods for parametric dynamical systems. *SIAM Review*, *57*(4), 483-531. doi:10.1137/130932715

Benredouane, S., Berrama, T., & Doufene, N. (2016). Strategy of screening and optimization of process parameters using experimental design: Application to amoxicillin elimination by adsorption on activated carbon. *Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems*, 155, 128-137.

doi:10.1016/j.chemolab.2016.04.010

- Bettoni, E., Ferriero, G., Bakhsh, H., Bravini, E., Massazza, G., & Franchignoni, F.
 (2014). A systematic review of questionnaires to assess patient satisfaction with limb orthoses. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 40(2), 158-169. doi:10.1177/0309364614556836
- Binu, S., & Misbahuddin, M. (2013). A survey of traditional and cloud specific security issues. Communications in Computer and Information Science Security in Computing and Communications, 377, 110-129. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-40576-1_12
- Blackwell, M., Honaker, J., & King, G. (2015). A unified approach to measurement error and missing data: Overview and applications. *Sociological Methods & Research*. 40(1), 1-39. doi:10.1177/0049124115585360
- Bleske-Rechek, A., & Kelley, J. A. (2014). Birth order and personality: A within-family test using independent self-reports from both firstborn and laterborn siblings.
 Personality and Individual Differences, 56, 15-18. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2013.08.011
- Bornstein, M. H., Jager, J., & Putnick, D. L. (2013). Sampling in developmental science:
 Situations, shortcomings, solutions, and standards. *Developmental Review*, 33(4), 357-370. doi:10.1016/j.dr.2013.08.003

- Breiby, M. A. (2015). Exploring aesthetic dimensions in nature-based tourist experiences. *Tourism Analysis*, 20(4), 369-380. doi:10.3727/108354215x14400815080361
- Bromwich, M., & Scapens, R. W. (2016). Management accounting research: 25 years on. *Management Accounting Research*, *31*, 1-9. doi:10.1016/j.mar.2016.03.002
- Brown, J. D. (2014). Simple linear regression. *Linear Models in Matrix Form*, 39-67. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-11734-8_2
- Buchanan, H., Siegfried, N., & Jelsma, J. (2015). Survey instruments for knowledge,
 skills, attitudes and behaviour related to evidence-based practice in occupational
 therapy: A systematic review. *Occupational Therapy International*, 23(2), 59-90.
 doi:10.1002/oti.1398
- Buhalis, D. (2000). Marketing the competitive destination of the future. *Tourism Management*, *21*, 97-116. doi:10.1016/s0261-5177(99)00095-3
- Buhalis, D., & Amaranggana, A. (2013). Smart tourism destinations. Information and Communication Technologies in Tourism 2014, 553–564. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-03973-2_40
- Burgess, S., & Thompson, S. G. (2013). Use of allele scores as instrumental variables for Mendelian randomization. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 42(4), 1134-1144. doi:10.1093/ije/dyt093
- Button, K. S., Ioannidis, J. P., Mokrysz, C., Nosek, B. A., Flint, J., Robinson, E. S., & Munafò, M. R. (2013). Power failure: Why small sample size undermines the reliability of neuroscience. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *14*(5), 365-376.
 Retrieved from http://www.nature.com/nrn/index.html

- British Virgin Islands Tourist Board. (2016). *Nature's little secrets*. Retrieved from http://www.bvitourism.com/
- Caber, M., & Albayrak, T. (2016). Push or pull? Identifying rock climbing tourists' motivations. *Tourism Management*, 55, 74-84. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2016.02.003
- Cahill, S., Pierce, M., Werner, P., Darley, A., & Bobersky, A. (2015). A systematic review of the public's knowledge and understanding of Alzheimer's disease and dementia. *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders*, 29(3), 255-275. doi:10.1097/wad.000000000000102
- Cai, L., & Zhu, Y. (2015). The challenges of data quality and data quality assessment in the big data era. *Data Science Journal*, 14, 1-10. doi:10.5334/dsj-2015-002
- Chakraborty, N. M., Fry, K., Behl, R., & Longfield, K. (2016). Simplified asset indices to measure wealth and equity in health programs: A reliability and validity analysis using survey data from 16 countries. *Global Health: Science and Practice*, 4(1), 141-154. doi:10.9745/ghsp-d-15-00384
- Chan, J. K. L. (2014). Understanding the meaning of low airfare and satisfaction among leisure air travellers using Malaysian low-cost airlines. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 20, 211-223. doi:10.1177/1356766713519635
- Chandra, S., & Sarkar, N. (2015). A restricted class estimator in the mixed regression model with autocorrelated disturbances. *Statistical Papers*, 57(2), 429-449. doi:10.1007/s00362-015-0664-4

Chang, E. C., & Chang, O. D. (2016). Development of the frequency of suicidal ideation inventory: Evidence for the validity and reliability of a brief measure of suicidal ideation frequency in a college student population. *Cognitive Therapy and Research, 40*, 549-556. doi:10.1007/s10608-016-9758-0

Chen, C. F., & Phou, S. (2013). A closer look at destination: Image, personality, relationship and loyalty. *Tourism Management*, *36*, 269-278. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2012.11.015

- Chen, G., Bao, J., & Huang, S. S. (2014). Segmenting Chinese backpackers by travel motivations. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 16, 355-367. doi:10.1002/jtr.1928
- Chen, H. J., Chen, P. J., & Okumus, F. (2013). The relationship between travel constraints and destination image: A case study of Brunei. *Tourism Management*, 35, 198-208. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2012.07.004
- Chen, L. J., & Chen, W. P. (2015). Push–pull factors in international birders' travel. *Tourism Management*, 48, 416-425. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2014.12.011
- Cheng, Q., Fang, L., & Chen, H. (2015). Visitors' brand loyalty to a historical and cultural theme park: A case study of Hangzhou Songcheng, China. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 19, 861-868. doi:10.1080/13683500.2015.1006589
- Cheng, Y., Gao, D., & Tong, T. (2014). Bias and variance reduction in estimating the proportion of true-null hypotheses. *Biostatistics*, *16*(1), 189-204.
 doi:10.1093/biostatistics/kxu029

Chew, E. Y. T., & Jahari, S. A. (2014). Destination image as a mediator between perceived risks and revisit intention: A case of post-disaster Japan. *Tourism Management*, 40, 382-393. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2013.07.008

Chirico, R. D., Frenkel, M., Magee, J. W., Diky, V., Muzny, C. D., Kazakov, A. F., ... & Brenneke, J. F. (2013). Improvement of quality in publication of experimental thermophysical property data: Challenges, assessment tools, global implementation, and online support. *Journal of Chemical & Engineering Data*, 58(10), 2699-2716. doi:10.1021/je400569s

Choi, S. H., Lu, Y. T., & Cai, L. A. (2015). A closer look at conative tourist loyalty: An exploratory examination of contextual variation. *Tourism Travel and Research Association: Advancing Tourism Research Globally. Paper 3. 36*, 269–278. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2012.11.015

Chung, N., Koo, C., & Kim, J. K. (2014). Extrinsic and intrinsic motivation for using a booth recommender system service on exhibition attendees' unplanned visit behavior. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 30, 59-68.

doi:10.1016/j.chb.2013.07.035

- Chung, N., Lee, H., Lee, S. J., & Koo, C. (2015). The influence of tourism website on tourists' behavior to determine destination selection: A case study of creative economy in Korea. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 96, 130-143. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2015.03.004
- Cohen, C. B. (1995). Marketing paradise, making nation. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 22, 404–421. doi:10.1016/0160-7383(94)00097-2

- Cokley, K., & Awad, G. H. (2013). In defense of quantitative methods: Using the "Master's Tools" to promote social justice. *Journal for Social Action in Counseling & Psychology*, 5(2), 26-41. Retrieved from http://www.jsacp.tumblr.com
- Confente, I. (2015). Twenty-five years of word-of-mouth studies: A critical review of tourism research. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 17, 613-624. doi:10.1002/jtr.2029
- Cong, L. C. (2016). A formative model of the relationship between destination quality, tourist satisfaction and intentional loyalty: An empirical test in Vietnam. *Journal* of Hospitality and Tourism Management, 26, 50–62. doi:10.1016/j.jhtm.2015.12.002
- Cori, A., Ferguson, N. M., Fraser, C., & Cauchemez, S. (2013). A new framework and software to estimate time-varying reproduction numbers during epidemics.
 American Journal of Epidemiology, *178*(9), 1505-1512. doi:10.1093/aje/kwt133
- Correia, A., & Kozak, M. (2016). Tourists' shopping experiences at street markets: Crosscountry research. *Tourism Management*, 56, 85-95.
 doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2016.03.026
- Correia, A., Kozak, M., & Ferradeira, J. (2013). From tourist motivations to tourist satisfaction. *International Journal Culture, Tourism Hospital Research*, 7, 411– 424. doi:10.1108/ijcthr-05-2012-0022

- Crnogaj, K., Rebernik, M., Bradac Hojnik, B., & Omerzel Gomezelj, D. (2014). Building a model of researching the sustainable entrepreneurship in the tourism sector. *Kybernetes*, 43(3/4), 377-393. doi:10.1108/k-07-2013-0155
- Crompton, J. L. (1979). Motivations for pleasure vacation. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 6, 408-424. doi:10.1016/0160-7383(79)90004-5
- Cucculelli, M., & Goffi, G. (2016). Does sustainability enhance tourism destination competitiveness? Evidence from Italian destinations of excellence. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 111, 370-382. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.12.069
- Dann, G. M. (1981). Tourist motivation an appraisal. *Annals of tourism research*, *8*, 187-219. doi:10.1016/0160-7383(81)90082-7
- Das, D. K., & Ray, N. (2016). Gap analysis and infrastructure requirement for tourism development in the State of West Bengal. *Handbook of Research on Strategic Business Infrastructure Development and Contemporary Issues in Finance*, 338-350. doi:10.4018/978-1-4666-5154-8.ch023
- D'Avanzo, E., & Pilato, G. (2014). Mining social network users opinions' to aid buyers' shopping decisions. *Computers in Human Behavior*. 51, 1284–1294.
 doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.081
- Davies, N. M., Smith, G. D., Windmeijer, F., & Martin, R. M. (2013). Issues in the reporting and conduct of instrumental variable studies. *Epidemiology*, 24(3), 363-369. doi:10.1097/ede.0b013e31828abafb
- Dayour, F., & Adongo, C. A. (2015). Why they go there: international tourists' motivations and revisit intention to Northern Ghana. *American Journal of*

Tourism Management, 4(1), 7-17. Retrieved from

http://www.sapub.org/journal/aimsandscope.aspx?journalid=1071

- Del Chiappa, G., Atzeni, M., & Ghasemi, V. (2016). Community-based collaborative tourism planning in islands: A cluster analysis in the context of Costa Smeralda. *Journal of Destination Marketing & Management*. doi:10.1016/j.jdmm.2016.10.005
- Delorme, P., Micheaux, P. L., Liquet, B., & Riou, J. (2016). Type-II generalized familywise error rate formulas with application to sample size determination. *Statistics in Medicine*, 35(16), 2687-2714. doi:10.1002/sim.6909
- Deng, W., Yeh, M., & Sung, M. (2013). A customer satisfaction index model for international tourist hotels: Integrating consumption emotions into the American customer satisfaction index. *International Journal of Hospitality Management, 35*, 133-140. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.05.010
- Development Planning Unit. (2015). *BVI statistics economy*. Published by the Central Statistics Office, Development Planning Unit. British Virgin Islands Government: British Virgin Ialnads.
- Dialsingh, I., Austin, S., & Altman, N. (2015). Estimating the proportion of true null hypotheses when the statistics are discrete. *Bioinformatics*, *31*(14), 2303-2309. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btv104
- Dimoska, T., & Trimcev, B. (2012). Competitiveness strategies for supporting economic development of the touristic destination. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 44, 279-288. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.05.031

Dios, K. D., Manibusan, A., Marsden, R., & Pinkstaff, J. (2013). Comparison of bioanalytical methods for the quantitation of PEGylated human insulin. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 396(1-2), 1-7. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2013.07.007

Donneau, A., Mauer, M., Lambert, P., Lesaffre, E., & Albert, A. (2015). Testing the proportional odds assumption in multiply imputed ordinal longitudinal data. *Journal of Applied Statistics*, 42(10), 2257-2279. doi:10.1080/02664763.2015.1023704

- Dormann, C. F., Elith, J., Bacher, S., Buchmann, C., Carl, G., Carre, G., & Lautenbach,
 S. (2013). Collinearity: A review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. *Ecography*, *36*, 27-46. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0587.2012.07348.xFe
- Dubois, G., Ceron, J., Gossling, S., & Hall, M. C. (2016). Weather preferences of French tourists: Lessons for climate change impact assessment. *Climatic Change*, *136*, 339-351. doi:10.1007/s10584-016-1620-6
- Dunn, P. K., Mcdonald, C., & Loch, B. (2014). StatsCasts: Screencasts for complementing lectures in statistics classes. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, 46, 521-532. doi:10.1080/0020739x.2014.990530
- Dupeyras, A., & MacCallum, N. (2013). Indicators for measuring competitiveness in tourism. OECD Tourism Papers, 2013/02. doi:10.1787/5k47t9q2t923-en

- Dutang, C., Goegebeur, Y., & Guillou, A. (2016). Robust and bias-corrected estimation of the probability of extreme failure sets. *Sankhya A*, 78(1), 52-86.
 doi:10.1007/s13171-015-0078-3
- Dwyer, L., Pham, T., Forsyth, P., & Spurr, R. (2014). Destination marketing of Australia return on investment. *Journal of Travel Research*, *53*, 281-295. doi:10.1177/0047287513497836
- Edelman, L. S., Yang, R., Guymon, M., & Olson, L. M. (2013). Survey methods and response rates among rural community dwelling older adults. *Nursing Research*, 62(4), 286-291. doi:10.1097/nnr.0b013e3182987b32
- Eide, E. R., & Showalter, M. H. (2012). Methods matter: Improving causal inference in educational and social science research: A review article. *Economics of Education Review*, 31, 744-748. doi:10.1016/j.econedurev.2012.05.010
- Elliot, S., & Papadopoulos, N. (2015, in press). Of products and tourism destinations: An integrative, cross-national study of place image. *Journal of Business Research*. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.08.031
- Eltorai, A. E., Naqvi, S. S., Ghanian, S., Eberson, C. P., Weiss, A. C., Born, C. T., & Daniels, A. H. (2015). Readability of invasive procedure consent forms. *Clinical* and Translational Science, 8(6), 830-833. doi:10.1111/cts.12364
- Estrada, M. A., & Koutronas, E. (2016). Terrorist attack assessment: Paris November 2015 and Brussels March 2016. *Journal of Policy Modeling*, *38*(3), 553-571. doi:10.1016/j.jpolmod.2016.04.001

- Farrell, E. H., Whistance, R. N., Phillips, K., Morgan, B., Savage, K., Lewis, V., . . .
 Edwards, A. (2014). Systematic review and meta-analysis of audio-visual information aids for informed consent for invasive healthcare procedures in clinical practice. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *94*(1), 20-32. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2013.08.019
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G* Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149-1160. doi:10.3758/brm.41.4.1149
- Fernandes, M., Medeiros, M. C., & Veiga, A. (2014). A (semi)parametric functional coefficient logarithmic autoregressive conditional duration model. *Econometric Reviews*, 35(7), 1221-1250. doi:10.1080/07474938.2014.977071
- Foss, N., & Hallberg, N. (2013). How symmetrical assumption advance strategic management research. *Strategic Management Journal*, *35*, 903-913. doi:10.1002/smj.2130
- Francq, B. G., & Govaerts, B. B. (2014). Measurement methods comparison with errorsin-variables regressions. From horizontal to vertical OLS regression, review and new perspectives. *Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems*, 134, 123-139. doi:10.1016/j.chemolab.2014.03.006
- Freire, J. R. D. S., Santos, I. C. D., & Sauer, L. (2016). Knowledge generation in agricultura research. *Ciência Rural*, 46(7), 1301-1307. doi:10.1590/0103-8478cr20150745

- Gho, A. T., & Zhang, W. G. (2014). An improvement to MLR model for predicting liquefaction-induced lateral spread using multivariate adaptive regression splines. *Engineering Geology*, 170, 1-10. doi:10.1016/j.enggeo.2013.12.003
- Goodbody, L., & Burns, J. (2011). A disquisition on pluralism in qualitative methods: The troublesome case of a critical narrative analysis. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 8, 170-196. doi:10.1080/14780887.2011.575288
- Grafeld, S., Oleson, K., Barnes, M., Peng, M., Chan, C., & Weijerman, M. (2016).
 Divers' willingness to pay for improved coral reef conditions in Guam: An untapped source of funding for management and conservation? *Ecological Economics*, *128*, 202-213. doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2016.05.005
- Granko, R. P., Wolfe, A. S., Kelley, L. R., Morton, C. S., & Delgado, O. (2014).
 Assessing the self-development potential of a pharmacy management practitioner through self-assessment survey. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 72(2), 149-157. doi:10.2146/ajhp140004
- Grigaliūnaitė, V., & Pilelienė, L. (2014). Satisfaction and loyalty of Lithuanian rural tourists: Segmentation and managerial implications. *Regional Formation and Development Studies*, 14(3), 64-75. doi:10.15181/rfds.v14i3.864
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field methods*, *18*(1), 59-82. doi:10.1177/1525822x05279903
- Guliani, L. K., & Rizwan, S. A. (2016). *Corporate social responsibility in the hospitality and tourism industry*. Hershey, PA, USA: Business Science Reference.

- Gunn, C. (1972). Vacationscape: Designing tourist environments. Austin, TX: University of Texas.
- Gursoy, D., Uysal, M., Sirakaya-Turk, E., Ekinci, Y., & Baloglu, S. (2015). Tourist
 behavior scales. *Handbook of Scales in Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 229324. Retrieved from http://www.cabi.org/bookshop/book/9781780644530
- Hajibaba, H., Gretzel, U., Leisch, F., & Dolnicar, S. (2015). Crisis-resistant tourists. Annals of Tourism Research, 53, 46-60. doi:10.1016/j.annals.2015.04.001
- Harshman, J., & Yezierski, E. (2016). Test–retest reliability of the adaptive chemistry assessment survey for teachers: Measurement error and alternatives to correlation. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 93(2), 239-247.

doi:10.1021/acs.jchemed.5b00620

- Hartley, J. (2016). Is time up for the Flesch measure of reading ease? *Scientometrics*, *107*(3), 1523-1526. doi:10.1007/s11192-016-1920-7
- Hallmann, K., Müller, S., Feiler, S., Breuer, C., & Roth, R. (2012). Suppliers' perception of destination competitiveness in a winter sport resort. *Tourism Review*, 67(2), 13-21. doi:10.1108/16605371211236105
- Hanusz, Z. & Tarasińska, J. (2015). Normalization of the Kolmogorov–Smirnov and Shapiro–Wilk tests of normality. *Biometrical Letters*, 52(2). doi:10.1515/bile-2015-0008
- Hesamian, G. (2015). One-way ANOVA based on interval information. *International Journal of Systems Science*, 47(11), 2682-2690.
 doi:10.1080/00207721.2015.1014449

- Hesse-Biber, S. (2016). Doing interdisciplinary mixed methods health care research:
 Working the boundaries, tensions, and synergistic potential of team-based
 research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(5), 649-658.
 doi:10.1177/1049732316634304
- Hiller, L., Marshall, A., & Dunn, J. (2015). Assessing violations of the proportional hazards assumption in Cox regression: Does the chosen method matter? *Trials*, *16*(S2). doi:10.1186/1745-6215-16-s2-p134
- Hillmer-Pegram, K. C. (2013). Understanding the resilience of dive tourism to complex change. *Tourism Geographies*, *16*(4), 598-614.doi:10.1080/14616688.2013.851268
- Hirudayaraj, G. & Das, B. (2016). Regression technique: Model to predict causal relationship between variables. *International Journal Community Medinice Public Health*, 1981-1985. doi:10.18203/2394-6040.ijcmph20162539
- Hitchcock, J., & Newman, I. (2013). Applying an interactive quantitative-qualitative framework: How identifying common intent can enhance inquiry. *Human Resource Development Review*, 12, 36-52. doi:10.1177/153448431242127
- Ho, K. W. (2015). Stress testing correlation matrix: A maximum empirical likelihood approach. *Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation*, 1-7. doi:10.1080/00949655.2015.1122790
- Hohwü, L., Lyshol, H., Gissler, M., Jonsson, S. H., Petzold, M., & Obel, C. (2013). Webbased versus traditional paper questionnaires: A mixed-mode survey with a

Nordic perspective. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *15*(8), e173. doi:10.2196/jmir.2595

- Howard, D., Best, W., & Nickels, L. (2014). Optimising the design of intervention studies: Critiques and ways forward. *Aphasiology*, 29(5), 526-562. doi:10.1080/02687038.2014.985884
- Hsieh, H. J., & Kung, S. F. (2013). The linkage analysis of environmental impact of tourism industry. *Procedia Environmental Sciences*, *17*, 658-665.
 doi:10.1016/j.proenv.2013.02.082
- Hultman, M., Skarmeas, D., Oghazi, P., & Beheshti, H. M. (2015). Achieving tourist loyalty through destination personality, satisfaction, and identification. *Journal of Business Research*, 68(11), 2227-2231. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.06.002
- Jensen, Ø., Lindberg, F., & Østergaard, P. (2015). How can consumer research contribute to increased understanding of tourist experiences? A conceptual review. *Scandinavian Journal of Hospitality and Tourism*, 15(sup1), 9-27. doi:10.1080/15022250.2015.1065591
- Kang, Y., Harring, J., & Li, M. (2014). Reexamining the impact of nonnormality in twogroup comparison procedures. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 83(2), 147-174. doi:10.1080/00220973.2013.876605
- Kärnä, S. (2014). Analysing customer satisfaction and quality in construction–the case of public and private customers. *Nordic Journal Of Surveying And Real Estate Research*, 2, 67-80. Retrieved from http://ojs.tsv.fi/index.php/njs

- Karyadi, K. A., Vanderveen, J. D., & Cyders, M. A. (2014). A meta-analysis of the relationship between trait mindfulness and substance use behaviors. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 143, 1-10. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.07.014
- Kassean, H., & Gassita, R. (2013). Exploring tourists push and pull motivations to visit Mauritius as a tourist destination. *African Journal of Hospitality, Tourism and Leisure*, 2(3), 1-13. Retrieved from http://www.ajhtl.com/
- Kaur Mann, A., & Kaur, N. (2016). Survey of web database clustering techniques. *International Journal of Science and Research*, 5(2), 685-688.
 doi:10.21275/v5i2.nov161214
- Kayat, K., Sharif, N. M., & Karnchanan, P. (2013). Individual and collective impacts and residents' perceptions of tourism. *Tourism Geographies*, 15, 640-653. doi:10.1080/14616688.2012.762690
- Kim, B., Kim, S. S., & King, B. (2016). The sacred and the profane: Identifying pilgrim traveler value orientations using means-end theory. *Tourism Management*, 56, 142-155. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2016.04.003
- Kim, K., Sun, J., Jogaratnam, G., & Oh, I. K. (2006). Market segmentation by activity preferences: Validation of cultural festival participants. *Event Management*, 10, 221-229. doi:10.3727/152599507783948666
- Kim, S. H., Holland, S., & Han, H. S. (2013). A structural model for examining how destination image, perceived value, and service quality affect destination loyalty:
 A case study of Orlando. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 15, 313-328. doi:10.1002/jtr.1877

- Kim, K., Uysal, M., & Sirgy, M. J. (2013). How does tourism in a community impact the quality of life of community residents? *Tourism Management*, *36*, 527-540. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2012.09.005
- Kim, S., Sugar, C. A., & Belin, T. R. (2015). Evaluating model-based imputation methods for missing covariates in regression models with interactions. *Statistics in Medicine*, 34(11), 1876-1888. doi:10.1002/sim.6435
- Khan, W. Z., Xiang, Y., Aalsalem, M. Y., & Arshad, Q. (2013). Mobile phone sensing systems: A survey. *IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials*, 15(1), 402-427. doi:10.1109/surv.2012.031412.00077
- Khorsan, R., & Crawford, C. (2014). How to assess the external validity and model validity of therapeutic trials: A conceptual approach to systematic review methodology. *Journal of Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2014, 1-12. doi:10.1155/2014/694804
- Kock, N., & Lynn, G. S. (2012). Lateral collinearity and misleading results in variancebased SEM: An illustration and recommendations. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 13, 546–580. Retrieved from http://aisel.aisnet.org/jais/
- Költringer, C., & Dickinger, A. (2015). Analyzing destination branding and image from online sources: A web content mining approach. *Journal of Business Research*, 68, 1836-1843. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.01.011
- Kouvelioti, R., & Vagenas, G. (2015). Methodological and statistical quality in research evaluating nutritional attitudes in sports. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition* and Exercise Metabolism, 25, 624-635. doi:10.1123/ijsnem.2014-0010

- Kraftchick, J. F., Byrd, E. T., Canziani, B., & Gladwell, N. J. (2014). Understanding beer tourist motivation. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 12, 41-47. doi:10.1016/j.tmp.2014.07.001
- Kratochwill, T. R., & Levin, J. R. (2014). Meta- and statistical analysis of single-case intervention research data: Quantitative gifts and a wish list. *Journal of School Psychology*, 52, 231–235. doi:10.1016/j.jsp.2014.01.003
- Lacher, R. G., Oh, C. O., Jodice, L. W., & Norman, W. C. (2013). The role of heritage and cultural elements in coastal tourism destination preferences a choice modeling–based analysis. *Journal of Travel Research*, 52, 534-546. doi:10.1177/0047287512475215
- Lai, W. H., & Vinh, N. Q. (2013). How promotional activities and evaluative factors affect destination loyalty: Evidence from international tourists of Vietnam. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 5(1), 70. doi:10.5539/ijms.v5n1p70
- Lamsfus, C., Xiang, Z., Alzua-Sorzabal, A., & Martín, D. (2013). Conceptualizing context in an intelligent mobile environment in travel and tourism. *Information* and Communication Technologies in Tourism 2013. 1–11. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-36309-2_1
- Laud, P. J., & Dane, A. (2014). Confidence intervals for the difference between independent binomial proportions: Comparison using a graphical approach and moving averages. *Pharmaceutical Statistics*, *13*(5), 294-308.
 doi:10.1002/pst.1631

- Le Borgne, F., Giraudeau, B., Querard, A. H., Giral, M., & Foucher, Y. (2015).
 Comparisons of the performance of different statistical tests for time-to-event analysis with confounding factors: practical illustrations in kidney transplantation. *Statistics in Medicine*. *35*(7), 1103–1116. doi:10.1002/sim.6777
- Lee, C. K., Kang, S. K., & Lee, Y. K. (2013). Segmentation of mega event motivation: The case of Expo 2010 Shanghai China. Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research, 18, 637-660. doi:10.1080/10941665.2012.695287
- Lee, T. H., & Hsu, F. Y. (2013). Examining how attending motivation and satisfaction affects the loyalty for attendees at Aboriginal festivals. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 15, 18-34. doi:10.1002/jtr.867
- Leong, A. M. W., Yeh, S. S., Hsiao, Y. C., & Huan, T. C. T. (2015). Nostalgia as travel motivation and its impact on tourists' loyalty. *Journal of Business Research*, 68(1), 81-86. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.05.003
- Leggett, L. E., Khadaroo, R. G., Holroyd-Leduc, J., Lorenzetti, D. L., Hanson, H., Wagg, A., . . . Clement, F. (2016). Measuring resource utilization. *Medicine*, *95*(10), E2759. doi:10.1097/md.00000000002759
- Lenzner, T. (2013). Are readability formulas valid tools for assessing survey question difficulty? *Sociological Methods & Research*, 43(4), 677-698.
 doi:10.1177/0049124113513436
- Leung, D., Woo, G. J., & Ly, T. P. (2013). The effects of physical and cultural distance on tourist satisfaction: A case study of local-based airlines, public transportation,

and government services in Hong Kong. *Journal of China Tourism Research*, 9(2), 218-242. doi:10.1080/19388160.2013.784572

- Li, B., Wang, M., & Yang, Y. (2016). Multiple linear regression with correlated explanatory variables and responses. *Survey Review*, 1-8. doi:10.1179/1752270615y.000000006
- Li, C. (2015). A test for the linearity of the nonparametric part of a semiparametric logistic regression model. *Journal of Applied Statistics*, 43(3), 461-475.
 doi:10.1080/02664763.2015.1070803
- Li, F., & Ryan, C. (2014). Chinese tourists' motivations and satisfaction of visiting North Korea. Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research, 20, 1313-1331. doi:10.1080/10941665.2014.978343
- Li, M., Zhang, H., & Cai, L. A. (2013). A subcultural analysis of tourism motivations. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, 40, 85–113. doi:10.1177/1096348013491601
- Li, S., Scott, N., & Walters, G. (2014). Current and potential methods for measuring emotion in tourism experiences: A review. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 18(9), 805-827. doi:10.1080/13683500.2014.975679
- Li, Y., & Mei, Y. (2016). Effect of bivariate data's correlation on sequential tests of circular error probability. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference*, 171, 99-114. doi:10.1016/j.jspi.2015.11.001
- Liu, C., Horng, J., Chou, S., Chen, Y., Lin, Y., & Zhu, Y. (2015). An empirical examination of the form of relationship between sustainable tourism experiences

and satisfaction. *Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research*, *21*(7), 717-740. doi:10.1080/10941665.2015.1068196

- Liu, S. Q., & Mattila, A. S. (2015). Ethnic dining: Need to belong, need to be unique, and menu offering. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 49, 1-7. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.04.010
- Llodrà-Riera, I., Martínez-Ruiz, M. P., Jiménez-Zarco, A. I., & Izquierdo-Yusta, A. (2015). A multidimensional analysis of the information sources construct and its relevance for destination image formation. *Tourism Management*, 48, 319–328. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2014.11.012
- Lu, Q. & Qiao, X. (2016). Significance analysis of high-dimensional, low-sample size partially labeled data. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference*, *176*, 78-94. doi:10.1016/j.jspi.2016.03.002
- Luchman, J. N. (2014). Relative importance analysis with multicategory dependent variables: An extension and review of best practices. *Organizational Research Methods*, 17(4), 452-471. doi:10.1177/1094428114544509
- Lucrezi, S., & van der Walt, M. F. (2016). Beachgoers' perceptions of sandy beach conditions: Demographic and attitudinal influences, and the implications for beach ecosystem management. *Journal of Coastal Conservation*, 20, 81-96. doi:10.1007/s11852-015-0419-3
- Luft, J., & Shields, M. D. (2014). Subjectivity in developing and validating causal explanations in positivist accounting research. Accounting, Organizations and Society, 39, 550-558. doi:10.1016/j.aos.2013.09.001

- Marković, S., & Raspor Janković, S. (2013). Exploring the relationship between service quality and customer satisfaction in Croatian hotel industry. *Tourism and Hospitality Management*, 19, 149-164. Retrieved from http://www.journals.elsevier.com/journal-of-hospitality-and-tourismmanagement/
- Marill, K., Chang, Y., Wong, K., & Friedman, A. (2015). Estimating negative likelihood ratio confidence when test sensitivity is 100%: A bootstrapping approach. *Statistical Methods in Medical Research*. doi:10.1177/0962280215592907

Maslow, A. H. (1954). Motivation and personality. New York, NY: Harper.

- Mason, P. (2015). *Tourism impacts, planning and management*. Abingdon, Oxon: New York, NY
- McPeake, J., Bateson, M., & O'Neill, A. (2014). Electronic surveys: How to maximise success. *Nurse Researcher*, *21*(3), 24-26. doi:10.7748/nr2014.01.21.3.24.e1205
- Mehmood, T., & Ahmed, B. (2016). The diversity in the applications of partial least squares: An overview. *Journal of Chemometrics*, 30(1), 4-17. doi:10.1002/cem.2762
- Mello, M. J., Merchant, R. C., & Clark, M. A. (2013). Surveying emergency medicine. Academic Emergency Medicine, 20(4), 409-412. doi:10.1111/acem.12103
- Mody, M., Day, J., Sydnor, S., Jaffe, W., & Lehto, X. (2014). The different shades of responsibility: Examining domestic and international travelers' motivations for responsible tourism in India. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 12, 113-124. doi:10.1016/j.tmp.2014.09.008

- Mohammad, B. A. M. A. H., & Som, A. P. M. (2010). An analysis of push and pull travel motivations of foreign tourists to Jordan. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 5(12), 41. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v5n12p41
- Mohamad, M., Ab Ghani, N. I., Mamat, M., & Mamat, I. (2014). Satisfaction as a mediator to the relationships between destination image and loyalty. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 30, 1113-1123. Retrieved from http://www.wasj.org/
- Moital, M., Dias, N. R., & Machado, D. F. (2013). A cross national study of golf tourists' satisfaction. *Journal of Destination Marketing & Management*, 2(1), 39-45. doi:10.1016/j.jdmm.2013.02.003
- Montilla, J. M., & Kromrey, J. (2016). Construct validity of the scale: Students' choice process. Case at the University of Los Andes, Venezuela. *Ciencia e Ingenieria*, 37(1), 19-27. Retrieved from http://erevistas.saber.ula.ve/cienciaeingenieria
- Moscardo, G., Dann, G., & McKercher, B. (2014). Do tourists travel for the discovery of "self" or search for the "other"? *Tourism Recreation Research*, *39*, 81-106. doi:10.1016/j.jdmm.2013.02.003
- Mosing, M. A., Madison, G., Pedersen, N. L., & Ullén, F. (2015). Investigating cognitive transfer within the framework of music practice: Genetic pleiotropy rather than causality. *Developmental Science*. *19*(3), 504–512. doi:10.1111/desc.12306
- Muskat, M., Blackman, D. A., & Muskat, B. (2012). Mixed methods: Combining expert interviews, cross-impact analysis and scenario development. *The Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 10(1), 09-21. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2202179

Mussalam, G. Q., & Tajeddini, K. (2016). Tourism in Switzerland: How perceptions of place attributes for short and long holiday can influence destination choice. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 26, 18-26.
doi:10.1016/j.jhtm.2015.09.003

Mwaura, D., Acquaye, D., & Jargal, S. (2013). Marketing implications of the destination image of Mongolia. *Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes*, 5, 80-91. doi:10.1108/17554211311292466

- Nassar, M. A., Mostafa, M. M., & Reisinger, Y. (2015). Factors influencing travel to Islamic destinations: An empirical analysis of Kuwaiti nationals. *International Journal of Culture, Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 9, 36-53. doi:10.1108/ijcthr-10-2014-0088
- Neuhofer, B., Buhalis, D., & Ladkin, A. (2014). A typology of technology-enhanced tourism experiences. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, *16*(4), 340-350. doi:10.1002/jtr.1958
- Nimon, K. F., & Oswald, F. L. (2013). Understanding the results of multiple linear regression beyond standardized regression coefficients. *Organizational Research Methods*, 16(4), 650-674. doi:10.1177/1094428113493929
- Njoroge, J. M. (2015). Tourism, millennium development goals and climate change in Kenya. *African Journal of Hospitality*, 4(1), 1-15. Retrieved from http//:www.ajhtl.com
- Ogbeide, G. C. A., Böser, S., Harrinton, R. J., & Ottenbacher, M. C. (2015). Complaint management in hospitality organizations: The role of empowerment and other

service recovery attributes impacting loyalty and satisfaction. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, doi:10.1177/1467358415613409

- Olesen, O. B., & Petersen, N. C. (2016). Stochastic data envelopment analysis-A review.
 European Journal of Operational Research, 251, 2-21.
 doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2015.07.058
- Oliver, R. L. (1980). A cognitive model of the antecedents and consequences of satisfaction decisions. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 460-469. doi:10.2307/3150499
- Oliver, R. L., & Swan, J. E. (1989). Equity and disconfirmation perceptions as influences on merchant and product satisfaction. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *16*, 372-383. doi:10.1086/209223
- O'Loughlin, C. (1962). A survey of economic potential, fiscal structure and capital requirements of the British Virgin Islands. *Social and Economic Studies*, 11(3), I-60. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org
- Olya, H. G., & Altinay, L. (2016). Asymmetric modeling of intention to purchase tourism weather insurance and loyalty. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(8), 2791-2800.
 doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.11.015
- O'Neal, M. E. (2012). Slavery, smallholding and tourism: Social transformations in the British Virgin Islands. Quid Pro Books.
- Oo, B. L. (2016). On the external validity of construction bidding experiment. *AJCEB Construction Economics and Building, 16*(1), 64. doi:10.5130/ajceb.v16i1.4818

- Osborne, J. W., & Waters, E. (2002). Four assumptions of multiple regression that researchers should always test. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation*, 8(2), 1-5. Retrieved from http://pareonline.net/
- Ottenbacher, M. C., Harrington, R. J., Fauser, S., & Loewenhagen, N. (2016). Should culinary tourism and hospitality service attributes be defined as primary tourism drivers? An expectancy-fulfillment grid approach. *Journal of Foodservice Business Research*, 1-16. doi:10.1080/15378020.2016.1185879
- Özdemir, G., & Şimşek, Ö. F. (2015). The antecedents of complex destination image. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *175*, 503-510. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.1229
- Papadimitriou, D., Apostolopoulou, A., & Kaplanidou, K. K. (2013). Destination
 personality, affective image, and behavioral intentions in domestic urban tourism.
 Journal of Travel Research, 54, 302–315. doi:10.1177/0047287513516389
- Pekár, S., & Brabec, M. (2016). Marginal models via GLS: A convenient yet neglected tool for the analysis of correlated data in the behavioural sciences. *Ethology*, *122*(8), 621-631. doi:10.1111/desc.12306
- Pericchi, L., & Pereira, C. (2016). Adaptative significance levels using optimal decision
 rules: Balancing by weighting the error probabilities. *Brazilian Journal of Probability and Statistics*, 30(1), 70-90. doi:10.1214/14-bjps257
- Phillips, W. J., Wolfe, K., Hodur, N., & Leistritz, F. L. (2013). Tourist word of mouth and revisit intentions to rural tourism destinations: A case of North Dakota, USA. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 15, 93-104. doi:10.1002/jtr.879

- Pietilä, M., & Fagerholm, N. (2016). Visitors' place-based evaluations of unacceptable tourism impacts in Oulanka National Park, Finland. *Tourism Geographies*, 18, 258-279. doi:10.1080/14616688.2016.1169313
- Pires, I. M., Garcia, N. M., Pombo, N., & Flórez-Revuelta, F. (2016). From data acquisition to data fusion: A comprehensive review and a roadmap for the identification of activities of daily living using mobile devices. *Sensors*, 16(2), 184. doi:10.3390/s16020184
- Pratminingsih, S. A., Rudatin, C. L., & Rimenta, T. (2014). Roles of motivation and destination image in predicting tourist revisit intention: A case of Bandung– Indonesia. *International Journal of Innovation, Management and Technology*, 5(1), 19-24. doi:10.7763/ijimt.2014.v5.479
- Prayag, G., & Hosany, S. (2014). When Middle East meets west: Understanding the motives and perceptions of young tourists from United Arab Emirates. *Tourism Management*, 40, 35-45. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2013.05.003
- Prayag, G., Hosany, S., Muskat, B., & Del Chiappa, G. (2015). Understanding the relationships between tourists' emotional experiences, perceived overall image, satisfaction, and intention to recommend. *Journal of Travel Research*, *56*(1), 41-46. doi:10.1177/0047287515620567

Prayag, G., Hosany, S., & Odeh, K. (2013). The role of tourists' emotional experiences and satisfaction in understanding behavioral intentions. *Journal of Destination Marketing & Management*, 2, 118-127. doi:10.1016/j.jdmm.2013.05.001

Prebensen, N. K., Woo, E., Chen, J. S., & Uysal, M. (2012). Motivation and involvement

as antecedents of the perceived value of the destination experience. *Journal of Travel Research*, *52*, 253–264. doi:10.1177/0047287512461181

- Punzo, A., Browne, R. P., & Mcnicholas, P. D. (2016). Hypothesis testing for mixture model selection. *Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation*, 86, 2797-2818. doi:10.1080/00949655.2015.1131282
- Quintal, V., Phau, I., & Polczynski, A. (2014). Destination brand image of Western Australia's South-West region perceptions of local versus international tourists. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 20, 41-54. doi:10.1177/1356766713490163
- Radder, L., & Han, X. (2013). Perceived quality, visitor satisfaction and conative loyalty in South African heritage museums. *The International Business & Economics Research Journal*, 12, 1261. doi:10.19030/iber.v12i10.8135
- Radicchi, E. (2013). Tourism and sport: Strategic synergies to enhance the sustainable development of a local context. *Physical Culture and Sport Studies and Research*, 57, 44-57. doi:10.2478/pcssr-2013-0007
- Rahimi, R. (2016). Tourism and violence. *Tourism Management*, 55, 238-239. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2016.02.018
- Raina, S. (2015). External validity & non-probability sampling. Indian Journal of Medical Research, 141, 487. doi:10.4103/0971-5916.159311
- Rajaratnam, S. D., Munikrishnan, U. T., Sharif, S. P., & Nair, V. (2014). Service quality and previous experience as a moderator in determining tourists' satisfaction with

rural tourism destinations in Malaysia: A partial least squares approach. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *144*, 203-211. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.07.288

- Rajesh, R. (2013). Impact of tourist perceptions, destination image and tourist satisfaction on destination loyalty: A conceptual model. *Pasos: Revista de Turismo y Patrimonio Cultural*, 11(3), 67-78. Retrieved from http://www.pasosonline.org/en/
- Ramseook-Munhurrun, P., Seebaluck, V. N., & Naidoo, P. (2015). Examining the structural relationships of destination image, perceived value, tourist satisfaction and loyalty: Case of Mauritius. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 175, 252-259. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.1198
- Rao, B., Kumar, C., & Rosaiah, K. (2015). Variable limits and control charts based on the half normal distribution. *Journal of Testing and Evaluation*, 44(5), 1878-1884. doi:10.1520/jte20140429
- Rasoolimanesh, S. M., Jaafar, M., Marzuki, A., & Mohamad, D. (2015). How visitor and environmental characteristics influence perceived crowding. *Asia Pacific Journal* of Tourism Research, 21, 952-967. doi:10.1080/10941665.2015.1084348
- Rasouli, S., & Timmermans, H. J. (2013). Benefits of travel: Needs versus constraints in uncertain environments. *Handbook of Sustainable Travel*, 33–52.
 doi:10.1007/978-94-007-7034-8_3
- Ray, N., Das, D. K., Chaudhuri, S., & Ghosh, A. (2015). Strategic infrastructure development for economic growth and social change. Hershey, PA: IGI Global

- Reinholds, I., Blatkewicz, V., Silvis, I. C., Van Ruth, S. M., & Esslinger, S. (2015).
 Analytical techniques combined with chemometrics for authentication and determination of contaminants in condiments: A review. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 44, 56-72. doi:10.1016/j.jfca.2015.05.004
- Rice, S., Traffimow, D., Graves, W., & Stauble, M. (2013). An expected value analysis of when to avoid Type 1 and Type 2 statistical errors in applied research. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 57(1), 1595-1599. doi:10.1177/1541931213571355
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C. M., & Ormston, R. (Eds.). (2013). Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers. Sage: Thousand Oaks, California.
- Rickards, G., Magee, C., & Artino Jr, A. R. (2012). You can't fix by analysis what you've spoiled by design: Developing survey instruments and collecting validity evidence. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 4, 407–410. doi:10.4300/JGME-D-12-00239.1
- Ridderstaat, J., Croes, R., & Nijkamp, P. (2014). Tourism and long-run economic growth in Aruba. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 16, 472-487. doi:10.1002/jtr.1941
- Rozin, P., Hormes, J. M., Faith, M. S., & Wansink, B. (2012). Is meat male? A quantitative multimethod framework to establish metaphoric relationships. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 39, 629-643. doi:10.1086/664970

- Rybak, M. E., Sternberg, M. R., & Pfeiffer, C. M. (2013). Sociodemographic and lifestyle variables are compound- and class-specific correlates of urine phytoestrogen concentrations in the U.S. Population. *Journal of Nutrition*, 143(6), 986S-994S. doi:10.3945/jn.112.172981
- Ryu, J. S., Decosta, J. P. L. E., & Andéhn, M. (2016). From branded exports to traveler imports: Building destination image on the factory floor in South Korea. *Tourism Management*, 52, 298-309. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2015.07.004
- Ruiz-Ballesteros, E., & Brondizio, E. (2013). Building negotiated agreement: The emergence of community-based tourism in Floreana (Galapagos Islands). *Human Organization*, 72(4), 323-335. doi:10.17730/humo.72.4.4767536442q23q31
- Saki, A. (2014). Sample size for correlation studies when normality assumption violated.
 British Journal of Applied Science & Technology, 4(12), 1808-1822.
 doi:10.9734/bjast/2014/7923
- Saart, P., Gao, J., & Kim, N. H. (2013). Semiparametric methods in nonlinear time series analysis: A selective review. *Journal of Nonparametric Statistics*, 26(1), 141-169. doi:10.1080/10485252.2013.840724
- Sanfilippo, P. G., Casson, R. J., Seyhan, Y., Mackey, D. A., & Hewitt, A. W. (2016). Review of null hypothesis significance testing in the ophthalmic literature: Are most 'significant' P values false positives? *Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology*, 44, 52-61. doi:10.1111/ceo.12570

- Scholtz, M., Kruger, M., & Saayman, M. (2013). Understanding the reasons why tourists visit the Kruger National Park during a recession. *Acta Commercii*, 13(1), 1-9. doi:10.4102/ac.v13i1.168
- Schneider, J. W. (2015). Null hypothesis significance tests. A mix-up of two different theories: the basis for widespread confusion and numerous misinterpretations. *Scientometrics*, 102(1), 411-432. doi:10.1007/s11192-014-1251-5.
- Seebaluck, N. V., Munhurrun, P. R., Naidoo, P., & Rughoonauth, P. (2015). An analysis of the push and pull motives for choosing Mauritius as "the" wedding destination. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 175, 201-209.

doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.1192

- Sedgwick, P. (2014). Pitfalls of statistical hypothesis testing: Type I and Type II errors. *BMJ*, *349*, g4287-g4287. doi:/10.1136/bmj.g4287
- Seisonen, S., Vene, K., & Koppel, K. (2016). The current practice in the application of chemometrics for correlation of sensory and gas chromatographic data. *Food Chemistry*, 210, 530-540. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.04.134
- Servidio, R. (2015). Images, affective evaluation and personality traits in tourist behaviour: An exploratory study with Italian postcards. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 16, 237–246. doi:10.1016/j.tmp.2015.08.003
- Sharma, D., & Kibria, B. G. (2013). On some test statistics for testing homogeneity of variances: A comparative study. *Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation*, 83(10), 1944-1963. doi:10.1080/00949655.2012.675336

- Shear, B. & Zumbo, B. (2013). False positives in multiple regression: Unanticipated consequences of measurement error in the predictor variables. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 73(5), 733-756. doi:10.1177/0013164413487738
- Šimková, E., & Holzner, J. (2014). Motivation of tourism participants. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 159, 660-664. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.12.455
- Simpson, P. M., & Siguaw, J. A. (2013). Lifestyle and satisfaction of winter migrants. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, *5*, 18-23. doi:10.1016/j.tmp.2012.09.005
- Singh, P., Engel, J., Jansen, J., de Haan, J., & Buydens, L. M. C. (2016). Dissimilarity based Partial Least Squares (DPLS) for genomic prediction from SNPs. *BMC Genomics*, 17(1), 1. doi:10.1186/s12864-016-2651-0
- Skålén, P., Gummerus, J., von Koskull, C., & Magnusson, P. R. (2015). Exploring value propositions and service innovation: A service-dominant logic study. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 43(2), 137-158. doi:10.1007/s11747-013-0365-2
- Skowronek, D., & Duerr, L. (2009). The convenience of nonprobability survey strategies for small academic libraries. *College & Research Libraries News*, 70(7), 412-415. Retrieved from http://crln.acrl.org/
- Slaney, K. L., & Racine, T. P. (2013). Constructing an understanding of constructs. New Ideas in Psychology, 31, 1-3. doi:10.1016/j.newideapsych.2011.02.010
- Stout, Q. (2013). Isotonic regression for multiple independent variables. *Algorithmica*, 71(2), 450-470. doi:10.1007/s00453-013-9814-z
- Stylidis, D., Belhassen, Y., & Shani, A. (2014). Three tales of a city stakeholders' images of Eilat as a tourist destination. *Journal of Travel Research*, 4(6) 702-716. doi: 10.1177/0047287514532373.
- Stylos, N., Vassiliadis, C. A., Bellou, V., & Andronikidis, A. (2016). Destination images, holistic images and personal normative beliefs: Predictors of intention to revisit a destination. *Tourism Management*, 53, 40-60. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2015.09.006
- Sukiman, M. F., Omar, S. I., Muhibudin, M., Yussof, I., & Mohamed, B. (2013). Tourist satisfaction as the key to destination survival in Pahang. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 91, 78–87. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.08.404
- Su, L., Swanson, S. R., & Chen, X. (2016). The effects of perceived service quality on repurchase intentions and subjective well-being of Chinese tourists: The mediating role of relationship quality. *Tourism Management*, 52, 82-95. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2015.06.012
- Suhartanto, D., & Triyuni, N. N. (2016). Tourist loyalty toward shopping destination: The role of shopping satisfaction and destination image. *European Journal of Tourism Research*, 13, 84. Retrieved from http://ejtr.vumk.eu/
- Tan, W. K., & Wu, C. E. (2016). An investigation of the relationships among destination familiarity, destination image and future visit intention. *Journal of Destination Marketing & Management*, 5(3), 214-226. doi:10.1016/j.jdmm.2015.12.008
- Tangeland, T., Vennesland, B., & Nybakk, E. (2013). Second-home owners' intention to purchase nature-based tourism activity products–A Norwegian case study. *Tourism Management*, 36, 364-376. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2012.10.006

Tawil, R. F., & Al Tamimi, A. M. (2013). Understanding Chinese tourists' travel motivations: Investigating the perceptions of Jordan Held by Chinese tourists. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 4(17), 164-170. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/

Thorarensen, H., Kubiriza, G. K., & Imsland, A. K. (2015). Experimental design and statistical analyses of fish growth studies. *Aquaculture*, 448, 483-490. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.05.018

- Tonetto, L. M., & Desmet, P. M. (2016). Why we love or hate our cars: A qualitative approach to the development of a quantitative user experience survey. *Applied Ergonomics, 56*, 68-74. doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2016.03.008
- Tosun, C., Dedeoğlu, B. B., & Fyall, A. (2015). Destination service quality, affective image and revisit intention: The moderating role of past experience. *Journal of Destination Marketing & Management*, 4(4), 222-234.
 doi:10.1016/j.jdmm.2015.08.002
- Trani, J., Babulal, G. M., & Bakhshi, P. (2015). Development and validation of the 34item disability screening questionnaire (DSQ-34) for use in low and middle income countries epidemiological and development surveys. *Plos One, 10*(12). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0143610
- Turner, T. L., Balmer, D. F., & Coverdale, J. H. (2013). Methodologies and study designs relevant to medical education research. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 25, 301-310. doi:10.3109/09540261.2013.790310

- Urbano, J. (2015). Test collection reliability: A study of bias and robustness to statistical assumptions via stochastic simulation. *Information Retrieval Journal*, *19*(3), 313-350. doi:10.1007/s10791-015-9274-y
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (1979). *Human subjects research (45 CFR 46)*. Retrieved from

http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html

- Valente, G., Castellanos, A., Vanacore, G., & Formisano, E. (2013). Multivariate linear regression of high-dimensional fMRI data with multiple target variables. *Human Brain Mapping*, 35(5), 2163-2177. doi:10.1002/hbm.22318
- Valim, M. D., Marziale, M. H. P., Richart-Martínez, M., & Sanjuan-Quiles, Á. (2014). Instruments for evaluating compliance with infection control practices and factors that affect it: an integrative review. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 23(11-12), 1502-1519. doi:10.1111/jocn.12316
- Van Teijlingen, E., & Hundley, V. (2002). The importance of pilot studies. *Nursing Standard*, *16*(40), 33-36. doi:10.7748/ns2002.06.16.40.33.c3214
- Van Vuuren, C., & Slabbert, E. (2012). Travel motivations and behaviour of tourists to a South African resort. *Tourism & Management Studies*, 13, 457–467. doi:10.1002/jtr.820
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 37, 21-54. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org
- Wang, J. L., Chiou, J. M., & Müller, H. G. (2016). Functional data analysis. Annual

Review of Statistics and Its Application, *3*, 257-295. doi:10.1146/annurev-statistics-041715-033624

- Wang, T., Luo, Y., & Tang, L. R. (2015). The investigation of consumer motivations to patronize boutique hotels using push-pull theory: A case study in Xiamen, China. *International Journal of Tourism Cities*, 1(4), 317-328. doi:10.1108/ijtc-08-2014-0010
- Walls, J. L., Phan, P. H., & Berrone, P. (2011). Measuring environmental strategy:
 Construct development, reliability, and validity. *Business & Society*, 50(1), 71-115. doi:10.1177/0007650310394427
- Wallace, S., Clark, M., & White, J. (2012). 'It's on my iPhone': Attitudes to the use of mobile computing devices in medical education, a mixed-methods study. *BMJ Open*, 2(4), e001099. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001099
- Warach, S. J., Luby, M., Albers, G. W., Bammer, R., Bivard, A., Campbell, B. C., ... & Liebeskind, D. S. (2016). Acute stroke imaging research roadmap iii imaging selection and outcomes in acute stroke reperfusion clinical trials. *Stroke*, 47(5), 1389-1398. doi:10.1161/strokeaha.115.012364
- Webster, C., & Ivanov, S. (2014). Transforming competitiveness into economic benefits:
 Does tourism stimulate economic growth in more competitive destinations?
 Tourism Management, 40, 137-140. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2013.06.003
- Westerman, M. A. (2012). Conversation analysis and interpretive quantitative research on psychotherapy process and problematic interpersonal behavior. *Theory and Psychology*, 21(2), 155-178. doi:10.1177/0959354310394719

- Whang, H., Yong, S., & Ko, E. (2015, in press). Pop culture, destination images, and visit intentions: Theory and research on travel motivations of Chinese and Russian tourists. *Journal of Business Research*. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.06.020
- Williams, L. D., & Aber, J. L. (2015). Testing for plausibly causal links between parental bereavement and child socio-emotional and academic outcomes: A Propensityscore matching model. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology J Abnorm Child Psychol, 44*, 705-718. doi:10.1007/s10802-015-0069-9
- Wong, A. (2015). Caribbean Islands tourism: Pathway to continued colonial servitude. *Études Caribéennes*, 31-32, 8-10. doi:10.4000/etudescaribeennes.7524
- Wong, I. A., & Dioko, L. (Don) A. N. (2013). Understanding the mediated moderating role of customer expectations in the customer satisfaction model: The case of casinos. *Tourism Management*, 36, 188–199. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2012.10.010
- Xie, K. L., & Lee, J. S. (2013). Toward the perspective of cognitive destination image and destination personality: The case of Beijing. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, 30(6), 538-556. doi:10.1080/10548408.2013.810993
- Yan, R., & Zhang, L. (2015). Linearity tests under the null hypothesis of a random walk with drift. *Statistical Papers*, 57(2), 407-418. doi:10.1007/s00362-015-0659-1
- Yeoh, E., Othman, K., & Ahmad, H. (2013). Understanding medical tourists: Word-ofmouth and viral marketing as potent marketing tools. *Tourism Management*, 34, 196-201. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2012.04.010
- Yeoman, I., McMahon-Beattie, U., Meethan, K., Fields, K., & Albrecht, J. (Eds.). (2015). *The future of food tourism: Foodies, experiences, exclusivity, visions and political*

capital. Channel View Publications, Bristol, UK

- Yu-Jia, H. (2012). The moderating effect of brand equity and the mediating effect of marketing strategy on the relationship between service quality and customer loyalty: The case of retail chain stores in Taiwan. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 5(1), 155-162. Retrieved from http://ijoi-online.org
- Yunus, F. (2010). Statistics using SPSS: An integrative approach, second edition. *Journal* of Applied Statistics, 37, 2119-2120. doi:10.1080/02664760903075515
- Yüzbaşıoğlu, N., Topsakal, Y., & Çelik, P. (2014). Roles of tourism enterprises on destination sustainability: Case of Antalya, Turkey. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 150, 968-976. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.09.109
- Zandvanian, A., & Daryapoor, E. (2013). Mixed methods research: A new paradigm in educational research. *Journal of Education and Management Studies*, 3(4), 525-31. Retrieved from http://jems.science-line.com/
- Zehrer, A., & Hallmann, K. (2015). A stakeholder perspective on policy indicators of destination competitiveness. *Journal of Destination Marketing & Management*, 4(2), 120–126. doi:10.1016/j.jdmm.2015.03.003
- Zhang, D., Yan, M., Niu, Y., Liu, X., van Zwieten, L., Chen, D., ... & Zheng, J. (2016). Is current biochar research addressing global soil constraints for sustainable agriculture? *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 226*, 25-32. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2016.04.010

- Zhang, H., Fu, X., Cai, L. A., & Lu, L. (2014). Destination image and tourist loyalty: A meta-analysis. *Tourism Management*, 40, 213-223. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2013.06.006
- Zhang, H., Xiaoxiao, F., Liping, A. C., & Lin, L. (2014). Destination image and tourist loyalty: a meta-analysis. *Tourism Management*, 40, 213-223. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2013.06.006
- Zhang, Y., & Peng, Y. (2014). Understanding travel motivations of Chinese tourists visiting Cairns, Australia. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 21, 44-53. doi:10.1016/j.jhtm.2014.07.001
- Zhao, X., Liu, Y., Bi, H., & Law, R. (2014). Influence of coupons on online travel reservation service recovery. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 21, 18-26. doi:10.1016/j.jhtm.2014.03.001
- Zvoch, K. (2014). Modern quantitative methods for evaluation science recommendations for essential methodological texts. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 35(3), 430-440. doi:10.1177/1098214013514128

SHERRINE AUGUSTINE

February 20, 2017

XYZ

Dear Mr.X

My name is Ms. Sherrine Augustine and currently enrolled in the Doctoral Program at Walden University. I am conducting a researching project on tourists' satisfaction in the BVI. The purpose of my research study is to conduct a quantitative survey on destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction. As a doctoral candidate I am very interested in answering the question whether a relationship exist between destination image, push and pull motives to travel, and tourists' satisfaction in the BVI.

I am specifically writing to request access and permission for the administration period of eight weeks to utilize the port of entry in the BVI for collection and distribution of survey for data collection. Also to place a locked box visible where participants can easily identify for the placement of their completed survey forms. It will be clear to the participants that the study is not a British Virgin Islands-sponsored or British Virgin Islands-supported survey. I will clearly articulate this is an individual doctoral study project through Walden University. It is my intent to utilize a convenience sample with a target population of 236 non-citizens or non-residents of the BVI.

Mr. Henley, it is my hope to provide research-based evidence to support those who want to foster change and improve tourist satisfaction within the BVI. Thank you in advance for your time and attention. I look forward to your approval and access to the port of entry.

For more information about my study, feel free to call me at XYZ or e mail me ABC

If you feel you understand the study well enough to grant the researcher request, please indicate your decision by signing the enclosed <u>Letter of Cooperation</u>.

Have a good day. Sincerely,

Shipig Sherrine Augustine

Letter of Cooperation

From: XXX

Date: February 20, 2017

Dear Sherrine Augustine,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I grant you access and permission for the administration period of eight weeks to utilize the port of entry in the BVI for collection and distribution of survey for data collection. Also to place a locked box visible where participants can easily identify for the placement of their completed survey forms. The researcher will be the only person that will have access to the lock box.

We understand our organization's responsibilities includes: providing the researcher access to the departure lounges in the port of entry and assigning a visible location to where place box can be a lock for participant to drop off all completed survey form. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change. I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting and that this plan complies with the organization's policies.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the student's supervising faculty/staff without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Printed Name: ______ Date of Consent: ______ Director Signature: ______ Researcher's Signature: ______ Appendix B: National Institutes of Health Training Certificate

Appendix C: Survey Questions

Make a selection to the following statements by an indication of a tick (\checkmark) to each statement

1. Gender

Male

Female

2. Purpose of Visit

Vacation	
Business	
Seeking Work	
Other	

3. Which island will you be visiting?

Tortola	
Virgin Gorda	
Anegada	
Jost Van Dkye	
Other	

4. You arrived to the BVI by

Air	
Private Air	
Cruise Ship	
Ferry	
Private Charter	

- 5. Nationality _____
- 6. Has you been to the BVI before?

Yes □ No □

7. Which category best describes your household income?

Less than \$20,000	
\$20,000-\$39.999	
\$40,000-\$59,000	
\$60,000-\$79,999	
\$80,000-\$99.999	
\$100,000-\$149,999	
\$150,000-\$199,999	
Above \$200,000	

Please indicate your level of satisfaction with the following statement regarding your travel experience in the BVI (choose the response that most closely applies to your level of satisfaction):

8. Destination image. How would you describe the image that you have of that

destination before the experience?

Not at all satisfied	Slightly Satisfied	Unsure	Very Satisfied	Extremely Satisfied

9. Push Motives of motivation to travel.

	Not at all satisfied	Slightly Satisfied	Unsure	Very Satisfied	Extremely Satisfied
Knowledge					
Learning new things					
or increasing					
knowledge					
Experiencing new					
and different lifestyle					
Seeing as much as					
possible					

Seeing and					
experiencing a					
foreign destination					
Travelling to					
historical places					
Sight seeing					
Sightseeing Variety					
To fulfill my dream					
of visiting a foreign					
land/country					
To sightsee touristic					
spots					
To explore cultural					
resources					
Adventure					
Finding thrill or					
excitement					
Having fun or being					
entertained					
Being darling and					
adventuresome being					
free to act the way I					
feel					
Reliving past good					
times					
Relax	P	r	P	1	1
Doing nothing at all					
Getaway from					
demand of home					
Change from busy					
jobs					
Escaping from the					
ordinary					
Lifestyles	1	1	1	1	
Experiencing simple					
lifestyle					
Rediscovering					
myself Travel					
bragging					
Talking about a trip					
after returning home					
Indulging in luxury					

Going places friends			
have not been			
Family			
Visiting friends or			
relatives			
Family togetherness			
Visit places family			
came from home			
Feeling a home away			
from home			

Pull Motives of motivation to travel.

	Not at all satisfied	Slightly Satisfied	Unsure	Very Satisfied	Extremely Satisfied
Event and activities	suisiicu	Butisfieu		Sutisfied	Sutisfied
Activities for entire					
family					
Festivals and event					
Sightseeing Variety					•
To fulfill my dream of					
visiting a foreign					
land/country					
To sightsee touristic					
spots					
To explore cultural					
resources					
Easy Access and affor	dable				
Affordable tourist					
destination Safe					
destination					
Value of money					
History and culture					
National Park Culture					
and traditions					
Outstanding scenery					
Variety seeking					
Traditional food					
Outdoor activities					
Exotic atmosphere					
Adventure				•	
Weather/climate					

Natural resources			
Natural reserves			
Beautiful beaches			

10. **Tourist satisfaction.** How would you describe your overall satisfaction with your stay in that destination?

Not at all satisfied	Slightly Satisfied	Unsure	Very Satisfied	Extremely Satisfied

Appendix D: Survey Questions Analysis Key

1. Push Motives of motivation to travel

(Push Motive – Is an activity that an individual pushes themselves to complete).

	Key
Knowledge	
Learning new things or increasing knowledge	Push1
Experiencing new and different lifestyle	Push2
Seeing as much as possible	Push3
Seeing and experiencing a foreign destination	Push4
Travelling to historical places	Push5
Sight seeing	
Sightseeing Variety	Push 6
To fulfill my dream of visiting a foreign land/country	Push7
To sightsee touristic spots	Push8
To explore cultural resources	Push9
Adventure	
Finding thrill or excitement	Push10
Having fun or being entertained	Push11
Being darling and adventuresome being free to act the way I feel	Push12
Reliving past good times	Push13
Relax	-
Doing nothing at all	Push14
Getaway from demand of home	Push15
Change from busy jobs	Push16
Escaping from the ordinary	Push17
Lifestyles	
Experiencing simple lifestyle	Push18
Rediscovering myself Travel bragging	Push19
Talking about a trip after returning home Indulging	Push20
Going places friends have not been	Push21
Family	1 451121
Visiting friends or relatives	Push22
Family togetherness	Push23

Visit places family came from home	Push24
Feeling a home away from home	Push25

2. Pull Motives of motivation to travel

(Pull Motives – Is an activity that an individual feels naturally pulled towards).

	Key	
Event and activities		
Activities for entire family	Pull1	
Festivals and event	Pull2	
Sightseeing Variety		
To fulfill my dream of visiting a foreign land/country	Pull3	
To sightsee touristic spots	Pull4	
To explore cultural resources	Pull5	
Easy Access and affordable		
Affordable tourist destination Safe destination	Pull6	
Value of money	Pull7	
History and culture		
National Park Culture and traditions	Pull8	
Outstanding scenery	Pull9	
Variety seeking		
Traditional food Outdoor activities Exotic atmosphere	Pull10	
Adventure		
Weather/climate	Pull11	
Natural resources		
Natural reserves Beautiful beaches	Pull12	